
March 2006 Vol.6 No.2

Grower
Prosperity
Grower
Prosperity
Grower
Prosperity
Grower
Prosperity
Grower
Prosperity

Canadian Publication Mail Agreement 40021625

Seeding Tools and Tactics

An 80/20 Formula

Nitrogen Fixation

Seeding Tools and Tactics

An 80/20 Formula

Nitrogen Fixation

Seeding Tools and Tactics

An 80/20 Formula

Nitrogen Fixation

Seeding Tools and Tactics

An 80/20 Formula

Nitrogen Fixation

Seeding Tools and Tactics

An 80/20 Formula

Nitrogen Fixation

Seeding Tools and Tactics

An 80/20 Formula

Nitrogen Fixation



Always read and follow label directions. Vitaflo® is a registered trademark of Crompton Co./CIE. Bayer CropScience is a member of CropLife Canada.

Contact your Bayer CropScience representative. 1 888-283-6847 www.bayercropscience.ca

S I D E - B Y - S I D E  S E E D  T R E A T M E N T  P E R F O R M A N C E  T R I A L S

Don’t lose your shirt by paying too much for other seed treatment brands. The fact is, Vitaflo® 280

provides equal control at half the cost of newer brands. That’s why you should use Vitaflo 280. It gives

you the same excellent control of all major seed and soil–borne diseases in cereal and pulse crops,

including Ascochyta in peas and Botrytis in lentils. Plus it protects pulse crops from seedling blights

caused by Rhizoctonia and Pythium. Ask your retailer for Vitaflo 280.

1105-352-01B



PulsePoint March 2006 3Saskatchewan Pulse Growers

The organic industry captures
much of the value from SPG’s research and
market development activities. SPG collected
$5.18 million in check-off in 2005. Less than 1%
of this, approximately $44,000 was collected
from organic growers. $3.75 million of this
year’s pulse check-off will be invested into
research. We have committed $21 million to 
a new 15 year pulse breeding agreement at 
the Crop Development Centre. $455,000 will 
be invested into agronomic research such as
nitrogen fixation and pathology. As well, we
are funding a specific organic project worth
$233,000 over three years to optimize pea 
and lentil agronomy in organic systems.

We have ensured that farmers are in 
control of the breeding and release of new
pulse varieties from the Crop Development
Centre. Because of our non-refundable check-
off, we have been able to make over 50 new
pulse varieties available royalty-free through
seed growers to all Saskatchewan pulse 
growers, including those in organic produc-
tion. These improved varieties have good 
market acceptance, higher yield potential,
improved disease resistance and better plant
architecture.

The Saskatchewan pulse check-off sup-
ports Pulse Canada’s market development
activities, including a new three-year program
to introduce Canadian and American con-
sumers to the health benefits of pulses.

The newly established Saskatchewan
Organic Commission Interim Board wants 
to establish a Commission to administer
check-offs on certified organic products. 
They have proposed that existing Boards and
Commissions, including the Saskatchewan
Pulse Growers (SPG) Board, turn the portion

of check-off collected on organic crops over to
the Saskatchewan Organic Commission.

This group recently sent a ballot to all cer-
tified organic producers in Saskatchewan, in
order to seek support in setting up the pro-
posed Commission. Contrary to what was
reported in the Western Producer on Jan. 19th,
the SPG Board will continue to have authority
to collect check-off on the sale of all pulse
crops, regardless of the outcome of the vote.

The SPG Board is the organization formally
charged with collecting and investing the
check-off on behalf of all of Saskatchewan’s
pulse producers, regardless of production
technology. The Board is 100% directed by
Saskatchewan pulse growers. The seven SPG
Directors are responsible to all pulse growers
through a democratic election process.

The Saskatchewan Organic Commission
Interim Board’s proposal will not create any
new funds for organic pulse research and 
market development. The net result of 
redirecting pulse check-off to an Organic
Commission will be a drop in funds available
for pulse research, increased administrative
expense and reduced research synergy in the
industry. This will contribute to continued
fragmentation and reduced collaboration in
the agriculture industry.

I invite organic growers to become more
involved with the SPG Board either by running
in the annual election for Directors or by 
having your existing organizations increase
their interaction with us.

Dean Corbett
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The decisions you make at seeding
time set the tone for the entire growing season.
From equipment to agronomy, Saskatchewan
pulse growers have access to a wide range of
options and advice to get their crops off to a
good start.

PulsePoint asked several industry experts
to discuss the latest seeding trends and tips
that could translate into extra dollars for your
bottom line this year.

Choosing the right seeding tool for your
farm is a major consideration. The major shift
to minimum tillage systems and larger farms
has increased the importance of a reliable air
drill. “While farmers are getting more life out
of their tractors they’re switching drills every
five or six years.” says Ed Burtney, a sales rep-
resentative with Redhead Equipment in
Saskatoon.

“It’s basically the wear and tear on the
unit,” Burtney says. “If they’re going to seed a
large farm with one drill and run it hard, they
want a late model they can depend on.”

Today’s air drills offer precise seed and
fertilizer placement with minimal soil distur-
bance in a single pass. Redhead’s most popu-
lar selling drills are 55-60 ft., with a trend
toward larger, multi-department tanks and
faster augers. This provides maximum versa-

tility for applying starter fertilizer and inocu-
lant while reducing fill time.

The majority of newer carts are equipped
with variable rate metering systems which
allow adjustments to be made on-the-go from
the tractor cab.

“We’re getting to the point where we can
manage input applications precisely by the
acre as opposed to the quarter section,” says
Burtney.

Technology
assists in 
maximizing
yields.

by Tom Steve

in briefSeeding Tools
and Tactics 
to Improve 
Your Bottom Line

grower prosperity

Variable rate metering
systems are popular.
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Growers also have a wide range of equip-
ment choices.

“Seeding technology – especially when it
comes to openers – is a bit like trying to buy a
new car,” says Jim Kelley, Ag Sales Manager
with Redhead Equipment.

While all brands have a long list of fea-
tures and selling points, the experts at
Redhead point to a few innovations that
should be of interest to growers.

For example, Seedhawk’s floating hole
opener offers precise depth control, which is
especially valuable for fine seeds like canola
but also important in producing uniform pulse
stands. Each opener shank is independent of
the frame, allowing shanks and packer wheels
to float with the contour of the land. On con-
ventional wing cultivators, shanks are
attached to a common gang and are only as
flexible as the gang itself.

Manufacturers are also incorporating fea-
tures to minimize seed damage – a key factor
for pulses. For example, Flexi-Coil carts fea-
ture a special insert in the manifolds to create
a gentler seed flow as well as technology to
monitor both fan speed and air velocity from
the cab.

“Fan speed is critical,” says Gordon
Hultgreen, Project Manager, Soils and Crops
with the Prairie Agricultural Machinery
Institute (PAMI) in Humboldt. “Where you
have seed damage, fan speed is related.”

“And the damage isn’t always visible,”
adds Ray McVicar, Special Crops Specialist
with Saskatchewan Agriculture and Food.

“A pulse seed that has a little hairline
crack typically does not produce a viable
seed,” says McVicar. “This will affect your
plant population and we know from the
research that the correct plant population
gives you the highest yield.”

Hultgreen’s research suggests growers
shouldn’t encounter damage problems, pro-
vided they follow their machine’s operating
manual. PAMI conducted tests on three vari-
eties of kabuli and desi chickpeas in 2002
using Bourgault, Morris, Case IH and Flexi-Coil
air carts. Total visual and hidden (germina-
tion) damage was less three per cent at all fan
and ground speeds.

While he hasn’t done a formal study on it,
Hultgreen thinks engineering improvements
over the years may have substantially
reduced the risk. He notes most manufactur-
ers have moved to larger diameter tubes in
the header towers, opening a wider path for
larger pulse seeds.

Hultgreen says PAMI has never found a
relationship between the number of impact
points (systems with primary and secondary
headers) and seed damage, although he sus-
pects openers with sharp angles (e.g. v-split-
ters) could play a role. Other damage vari-
ables include moisture content and the seed
coat, he says.

In a separate study PAMI found desi
chickpeas to be more susceptible to impact
damage than kabulis. Seeds were shot through
a vertical pipe with a compressed air blast
into a steel plate and assessed for visual and
hidden damage.

Farmers Embrace Technology
One tool quickly gaining popularity on the
farm is auto-steer, the global positioning sys-
tem (GPS) technology that maps the field and
steers the seeding unit along a pre-determined
course. The operator is only required to make
headland turns. One of the big advantages of
auto-steer is eliminating overlap.

“The average farmer probably overlaps
up to five per cent, so on $100-thousand
worth of inputs he’s just saved himself $5
thousand,” says Burtney.

The next horizon in seeding technology is
prescription writing. Data from the combine is
fed into a computer program and a prescrip-
tion is written for inputs in specific manage-
ment zones within a field using GPS mapping.
While the technology is still in its infancy,

grower prosperity

A floating hole opener
offers precise depth 
control.
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Burtney predicts its use will increase as costs
come down and farmers become more com-
fortable with it.

Weed Control Stressed
Land preparation is a vital first step in grow-
ing a high yielding pulse crop. Coming off
excellent growing conditions in 2005, McVicar
believes perennial weed control will be a
major issue for Saskatchewan pulse growers
this year.

That view is echoed by Dr. Yantai Gan,
Alternative Crops Agronomist at the
Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada research
station in Swift Current who says a fall burn-
off on intended pulse acres is essential. He
recommends a pre-seed burn-off at a minimum
this spring and a post-seed application
depending on weed competition.

Another wise investment more growers
are making is a seed test, says McVicar.
Identifying the presence of seed borne disease
can eliminate a lot of headaches during the
growing season.

“The cost of a seed test is so much cheaper
than many applications of fungicide which can
quickly eat up all of your profits,” says McVicar.

Early seeding has become standard prac-
tice in pulses, with peas going in first followed
by lentils and chickpeas. Research has found
that early-seeded pulses yield better by a
range of 8 per cent to 37 per cent depending
on moisture.

Achieving an optimum plant population is
also vital, with 80 plants per square metre (8
per square foot) recommended for field peas.
Dr. Gan says growers must consider three fac-
tors – seed size, pre-seed germination rate
and seed emergence – when calculating seed-
ing rates.

“If you put 100 very viable seeds in the
ground you will never get 100 plants,” he says.
“The maximum you will get is 80 to 85 and it
could be as low as 50,” he says.

Inoculant a Sound Investment
The payback on inoculants has become a
source of debate in the farm community with
some evidence nitrogen-fixing rhizobia survive
in the soil in the years between pulse crops.
However, both Gan and McVicar recommend
applications with every pea and lentil crop,
citing studies from the Peace River region to
Swift Current and Brandon demonstrating 
the benefits.

“If you don’t use inoculant, you will defi-
nitely have nodules on the root but they will
not be as effective as using fresh inoculant
and the yield will not be as high,” says Gan.

McVicar concedes some farmers in black
soil zones have experienced less payback with
inoculant and believes it may be due to higher
organic matter and more N being naturally
released though the soil.

Good soil moisture in 2005 fuelled a lot of
debate about optimum seeding depth of puls-
es. McVicar recommends at least two inches
for peas and chickpeas to reduce the risk of
leaving seed and inoculant in dry soil if there’s
a hot/dry period after seeding.

“Pulses have lots of energy to get through
the ground,” he says.

Dr. Gan gets a lot of questions from farm-
ers about the best time to roll and recom-
mends it be done immediately after seeding.

“If you wait for the plants to emerge you
have to figure out how tall the plants are and
whether they will be damaged,” he says.
“Earlier rolling will actually conserve mois-
ture, while giving you better seed/soil contact
and quicker emergence.”

While there is no magic bullet that will
guarantee the success of your pulse crop,
choosing the right equipment and following
sound agronomic practices will go a long way
toward higher yields and profitability for your
farm in 2006.

Tom Steve is a freelance journalist in Saskatoon and
works in the grain industry.

grower prosperity

Early rolling produces
quicker emergence.
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In times of high fertilizer nitrogen
(N) prices, it’s hard to beat a crop that can
supply it’s own N, and that’s exactly what
well-inoculated pulse crops do.

When we say that pulses “fix” N, what’s
the process? It starts with a partnership
between the pulse plant and bacteria, called
Rhizobium, which find a home in the root nod-
ules. The bacteria have the ability to convert
gaseous N (normally held in soil pores) to a
plant available form.. A molecule of gaseous N
is comprised of two N atoms bound so tightly
together with a triple bond that it is essential-
ly inert. It’s up to the Rhizobium to split the
triple bond resulting in two molecules of N in
a plant available ammonia form. Splitting the
molecule requires a lot of energy which is sup-
plied by the plant in the form of photosyn-
thate. The value of the N gained far outweighs
the energy expended.

How important is N fixation to pulse crops
grown in Western Canada? Very! Pulse crops
are very high protein crops, with N being the
cornerstone of protein formation. Compare a
wheat crop containing 12% protein to typical
protein values of well over 20% for pulses and
it’s clear that pulses require more N to ‘build’
all that additional protein. Thankfully, N fixed
by well-nodulated pulses can provide a rela-
tively inexpensive supply (i.e., the cost of the
inoculant) of the needed N.

How much N is supplied by fixation?
There is no easy answer because the amount
of N that a plant fixes depends on many fac-
tors – including the amount of N in the soil.
Because N fixation is energy expensive, plants
preferentially use soil N rather than fix their
own – therefore, as soil test N levels go up, N
fixation goes down. The net result is that the

A well inoculat-
ed pulse crop
can provide
most of the N
requirement.

by Fran Walley

in briefThe Importance of
Nitrogen Fixation 
for Optimal 
Pulse Crop Production

grower prosperity

Figure 1: Percentage of N derived from fixation for pulse crops grown in Western Canada
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plants ‘see’ roughly the same amount of N but
the source differs. Pulse crops never fix 100%
of their N because the soil provides some N
over the growing season.

Experiments in Western Canada have
included different treatments including
uninoculated controls or treatments inoculated
with ineffective rhizobia, and high rates of N
fertilizer. When we examine the compiled data,
two important conclusions can be drawn: 
1) pulse crops differ in their ability to fix N
and 2) pulse crops grown in Western Canada
can fix a lot of N when soil test levels of N are
low, and the crop is healthy and actively 
growing. See figure 1 on previous page.

How can you ensure that your pulse
crop is fixing at the high end of the scale?
Use a good quality inoculant and make 
sure inoculated seed is placed into a moist
seedbed to ensure the greatest survival of 
the inoculant rhizobia. Inoculants, in their
many forms (peat powder, liquids, granular)
are all simply delivery systems for the rhizobia.
Different products use different formulations
and often contain different strains of rhizobia.
According to government regulations, these
products are guaranteed to deliver a minimum
number of rhizobial cells when applied
according to the label.

Do you need to inoculate every year?
Rhizobia are naturally occurring soil micro-
organisms so they can persist in our soils –
sometimes for many years. Consequently,
rhizobial populations can build up over the

years. The question is, if there is a large 
population of rhizobia already in the soil, 
are there any additional benefits to inocula-
tion? The answer to this question can be
found in the many research studies that have
examined N fixation. For example, we know
that although rhizobia can persist in soils,
research indicates that rhizobia introduced 
as inoculants tend to decline in fields over
time (Kucey and Hynes, 1989). Moreover, 
the genetic material of the rhizobia can
change in favour of strains that are capable 
of long-term survival – but not necessarily 
in favour of good N fixers. Therefore, even if
there are enough rhizobia present in the soil,
a fresh inoculant can often enhance nodula-
tion and N fixation (Figure 2).

A review by Kevin Vessey (Vessey, 2004,
University of Manitoba) of research experi-
ments conducted on the prairies indicates
that even in cases where a field is known to
contain a significant population of rhizobia,
producers can still expect significant yield
responses to inoculation approximately one-
third to one-half of the time. Moreover, the
most common reason for a lack of response 
to inoculation in these studies was due to
high available N levels in the soil prior to
seeding and not necessarily due to the resi-
dent rhizobial populations. Thus, on low N
soils, response to inoculation may occur even
more frequently. Currently there are no ‘fail
proof’ methods to determine what fields may
or may not be responsive to inoculation on
the basis of the resident rhizobial population.
Moreover, because the success of the N fixa-
tion process depends on two living partners,
the magnitude of an N response may vary
according to weather and growing conditions.

A well inoculated pulse crop can provide
a pulse crop with a significant portion of its N
requirement. Given the cost of replacement N
fertilizer, the modest costs of inoculation rep-
resent a good investment when compared to
the potential N inputs and yield benefits that
can be achieved.

Fran Walley is a Professor and Head of the Department
of Soil Science, University of Saskatchewan
(walley@sask.usask.ca).

Figure 2: Although
native and introduced
soil rhizobia can cause
significant nodulation to
occur, the use of a fresh
inoculant guarantees 
a supply of healthy 
N fixers.

grower prosperity
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The Canadian Grain Commission (CGC) is
proceeding with the plan it announced last spring to
improve its licensing, security, and compliance program. As
of August 1, 2006, all grain dealers and elevators must be
licensed or exempted from licensing requirements. The CGC is
also working with industry to reduce the financial and adminis-
trative requirements of obtaining and keeping a grain licence.
This initiative will help protect the rights of grain producers,
while improving the CGC’s ability 
to oversee the quality and quantity assurance systems that have
made Canada a world leader in the grain sector.

The CGC strongly advises producers not to deal with unli-
censed companies. The Commission is unable to assist producers
who deal with unlicensed companies because the latter post no
security. Nor can the CGC arbitrate grade disputes between produc-
ers and an unlicensed company.

Most producers will see no change to their bottom line as a result
of this initiative, since they are already selling to licensed companies.
Licensing costs may be passed on to those who currently deal with unli-
censed companies. However, paying the extra cost will mean more finan-
cial protection to producers. Over the past several years, the CGC has
helped hundreds of farmers recover millions of dollars owed to them by
companies that appeared stable but unexpectedly went under.

There’s a lot more information available on licensing and the CGC’s
emphasis on August 1, 2006, including a “List of Licensees” page on the
Commission’s Website, www.grainscanada.gc.ca. You can also call the CGC at
1-800-853-67051 or e-mail them at contact@grainscanada.gc.ca. Alternatively,
you might want to get in touch with one of the CGC’s Assistant Commissioners:

Alberta & British Columbia: Liliane Maisonneuve (780) 495-8675

Saskatchewan: Donna Welke (306) 780-5035

Manitoba: Robert (Bob) Douglas (204) 837-9580

CGC Licensing
Initiative

producer protection





PulsePoint March 2006 13Saskatchewan Pulse Growers

Sitting in front of two computer
screens in his farm office, Kenton Possberg
keeps tabs on the markets and directs the
affairs of Possberg Grain Farms (PGF).

This is where you’re most likely to find
the Humboldt, Saskatchewan farmer on any
given day. Unlike many of his peers, Possberg
spends 80 per cent of his time managing the
operation and just 20 per cent in the field.

It’s a formula he’s followed since complet-
ing an agriculture degree at the University of
Saskatchewan in 1998 and partnering with his
father Len, who passed away in 2003.

“We were expanding and were a bit defi-
cient on the business side, so I tried to con-
centrate on the parts where I felt the opera-
tion would get the best bang for the time
spent,” he says.

Possberg cites marketing and keeping a
handle on expenses as the activities that
deliver the biggest payback. Even when he’s
working in the field, Possberg is rarely out of
touch, often checking emails on his pocket PC.

“The futures don’t stop because harvest
starts,” he says. “Business decisions don’t
stop having to be made. It’s a year round
thing and it’s amazing how things can change
overnight.”

Price forecasting and planning rotations
are a big part of his daily routine. The farm
generates three to four budgets a year to
account for such variables as changing mar-
kets and fluctuating input costs.

Field Operations Manager Aaron Saretsky
is responsible for the production side, super-
vising one other full time employee plus sea-
sonal staff. Possberg’s wife Pam, a U of S com-
merce grad, does the books and keeps the
business running during the busy seasons.

PGF seeds between 11,000 and 13,000 acres
annually, depending on rental opportunities.
The farm owns roughly 4,000 of those acres.

Markets Drive Pea Acres
Peas account for 10 to 20 per cent of Possberg’s
rotation, depending on price prospects for the

Marketing 
and keeping 
a handle on
expenses deliver
the biggest 
payback for
Kenton Possberg.

by Tom Steve

in briefAn 80/20
Formula for
Profitable Peas

grower profile

Ken Possberg farms
south of Humboldt.
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can take if off tough and we don’t have to worry about
splits.”

Standability and powdery mildew resistance are big pri-
orities in choosing seed and Possberg has had good results
with Eclipse peas. He uses certified seed every second or
third year and likes to stay current with new varieties.
Disease and germ tests are also done before any seed goes
in the ground.

The entire farm is seeded with one drill (running 24
hours a day) and peas are the first to go in. This gets the
crop to flowering stage in late June before the hottest days
of summer.

Possberg considers seeding rate to be one of the
biggest determining factors in producing a high yielding pea
crop. He calculates a pounds-per-acre rate based on seed
size from a 1,000 kernel weight. Higher rates are used for
certain varieties, such as Mozarts, to improve standability.

Possberg prefers granular inoculant and believes it
should be applied on every pea crop. He’s skeptical of
claims that nitrogen fixing rhizobia survive in the soil after
repeated applications.

“When you’re spending so much money on all your
other inputs plus your fixed costs, it’s not worth the risk to
try and save a few dollars an acre on inoculant,” he says.

Possberg doesn’t use starter nitrogen but does apply
phosphate, depending on the soil tests and ground tempera-
ture. If the temperature is above five degrees and residual
levels are high, phosphate is not used.

Pre-seed and post-seed burn-offs are incorporated as
necessary and rolling is done right after seeding. In-crop
herbicide is usually applied at the three or four node stage
and Possberg believes the cost of fungicide is only justified
if there is heavy disease pressure. Peas are always pre-
harvested with a desiccant and provided the crop comes 
off early enough, the field may be seeded to winter wheat.

With the closest processor two hours away, freight is a
major issue in selling peas to the edible market. Possberg
will often go with a local feed bid.

Consultants Valued
While some farmers view consultants as an unnecessary
expense, Possberg believes they can add considerable
value.

“If they’re used properly it’s like having another
employee,” he says.

The local Cargill outlet provides agronomic expertise
and chartered accounting firm Meyers Norris Penny assists
on the financial side. PGF also uses the services of com-
modities brokers Jack Peters and Keith Ferley with Union
Securities in Winnipeg.

Possberg’s 80/20 management formula may seem radi-
cal to some, but if anything he sees the business demands
of farming increasing in the years to come.

“I think that 80 (per cent) is only going to go up.”

Tom Steve is a freelance journalist in Saskatoon and works in the grain
industry.

grower profile

coming year. Canola ranges between 20 to 30 per cent, winter
wheat 20 to 25 and the remainder is a mix of spring wheat and
malt barley.

Possberg takes the same systematic approach to pea
production as he does to the farm business overall. He starts
running the numbers in late summer to identify projected
pea acres for the spring and ensuring those acres are pre-
harvested. That’s followed up by soil tests in the fall.

“Once we get the results back and if the markets say
yes, we get our seed and inoculant lined up,” he says.

Possberg predominantly grows yellow peas that don’t
have the bleaching problems he’s experienced with greens
and marrowfats.

“I also like the pricing because if the feed and edible
spread isn’t that great we’ll price it for feed,” he says. “We

Hytek is looking for Feed Grains
Peas, Wheat and Barley

Please contact:
Dennis Kornelsen
Hytek Ltd.
Box 100 La Broquerie, Manitoba Canada  R0A 0W0
Office: 204-424-6009  Cell: 204-346-3109
Fax: 204-424-5177
www.hytekmb.com
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The 2005 pulse year has been
filled with both triumphs and trials in Canada:
On the one hand a record pulse crop fuelled
by good yields was harvested, but low prices
and marketing difficulties have taken much of
the joy out of the situation. To properly deter-
mine what to expect from 2006, we must
assess if last year’s crop will impact the mar-
ket into 2006/07 and incorporate that knowl-
edge into this years’ planting decisions.
Ideally, the following three questions need to
be answered:
1. Why is the market where it is?
2. What can we expect forward?
3. What can the marketing perspective tell us

about what to plant?

To begin with, several factors have affected
the marketing of all three pulse crops adverse-
ly. They are, in order of impact, the foreign
exchange effect of a stronger Canadian dollar,
the intensified price-cost squeeze due to high
fossil fuel prices, and the increased U.S. pea
and lentil production that has been fuelled by
the inclusion of pulses in the U.S. Loan
Program. These problems are well recognized
and the charts below suffice to illustrate their
detrimental effects on the returns to pulse
crops in western Canada.

There is not much that growers can do
about these factors; rather they should be the
realm of our politicians.

A stronger
Canadian dollar,
the intensified
price-cost
squeeze due 
to high fossil
fuel prices, and
increased U.S.
pea and lentil
production have
had a detrimen-
tal effect on the
returns to pulse
crops.

Pulse Market Update:

Peas, Lentils, 
Chickpeas

in brief

Market Muse

by Marlene Boersch

The changes in the U.S. Pulse Environment present a Long Term Threat:

In 2002, the U.S. Government approved the inclusion of peas, lentils, some chickpeas into their
Loan PGM.

• Since 2002, the U.S. pea & lentil tonnage increased from 551,000 MT to 2,161,000 MT 
(a 392% increase)

• If this PGM stays intact, it is likely that pulse acres will continue to increase in the U.S.

Source: MCV

Source: MCV

Table 1: U.S. Pulse Environment since 2002

Table 2: Implications of a strong Canadian Dollar

USD/cwt USD/MT FX Cdn$/MT % of 2000

Price CY $15.00 $330.69 0.8600 Dec. 2005 $384/53 76%

Price CY $15.00 $330.69 0.6550 Nov. 2000 $504.88 100%

Price CY $15.00 $330.69 0.7350 Nov. 1995 $449.92 89%

Source: MCV

Table 3: Returns to growers from lentils in Montreal in 1995, 2000 and 2005
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Peas
The pea market has actually performed 
quite well if one recalls that pea production
by the world’s major producers has been 
well in excess of 8 million tonnes for the 
past 2 years and Canada has produced its
biggest pea crop ever. But with a projected
2.2-2.3 million tonnes, Canadian exports are
also well on the way for a record volume for
2005/06. These export numbers are a result 
of both a healthy feed pea market into Spain,
and good sales of edible peas into the Indian
subcontinent. The reasons for the functioning
of these markets were quite different: The
Canadian feed market was assisted by a very
severe drought on the Iberian Peninsula 
which resulted in the failure of their domestic
feed barley crop. The Canadian edible pea
market benefited from a mediocre domestic
crop in Asia, and the demand elasticity
towards low priced pulses in that region: 
For each decrease in price one gains about
0.8% increase in demand, hence the good 
volumes shipped. Canada also has the good
fortune to come into this market ahead of
Australia. Coupled with the Canadian domes-
tic demand of ~1.4 million tonnes for peas, 
the carryout from our record crop will not 
be burdensome! This scenario should be
somewhat supportive of old crop, and is
extremely good news for new crop.

Looking ahead to next year, we are 
assuming 3.4 million tonnes from Canadian
acres, a slight increase again over last year.
However, multiplying this acreage with 
average yields (we will need to refine this 
as we go through the growing season), 
production may be down slightly by 200,000
tonnes. On the world scene, Indian pea 
production remains the wild card and for 
now we are again scheduling world produc-
tion at 8.2 million tonnes.

For the demand side we are skeptical 
that same fortuitous situation on the Iberian
Peninsula will continue for two years running.
Although world coarse grain ending stocks 
are forecast to fall we have lowered next
year’s feed pea demand to 650,000 tonnes.
Nevertheless, as long as edible pea demand
stays around 1.1 million tonnes, next year’s
carryout will not be burdensome.

With values around $3.00-$3.50/ bushel 
to the grower, 2005 crop prices have not 
been as positive as export volumes. But then
again, feed pea volumes developed because
peas were competitive with coarse grains, 
and edible pea demand expanded because
they substituted more expensive pulses like
desi-chickpeas and mung beans. Looking
ahead, pea prices for the remainder of this
crop year can be expected stay within the
range we have seen this fall, to perhaps
10c/bushel up. For next crop year, budget
$3.30-$3.50/bushel. You will likely need 
better than average yields to make money
with this crop.

Lentils
Production by the world’s major lentil 
producers was up by nearly 30 per cent over
the past 2 years with Canada expanding by 
28 per cent in 2005 alone. Herein lays the 
fundamental explanation of the Canadian 
lentil market woes: Export volumes have 
not kept up with production and prices are
reflecting the supply pressure. This is 
certainly true for the green lentil market
where Canada provides 80% of total export
volume. Canada, as the dominant supplier, 
has reached the present limits of the mature
green lentil market, and excess supplies have
been discounted severely. Worse yet, because
the market is mature and price inelastic, 
the low values have not induced increased

2005 C/O Projection:

Class ’000 MT %

Large 445 0.82

Small 80 0.66

Red 50 0.25

Other 55 1.83

2006 C/O Projection:

Class ’000 MT %

Large 450 0.98

Small 121 0.80

Red 70 0.30

Other 30 0.42

Market Muse

Source: MCV

Table 4: Projected lentil carryout projection
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demand as we have in the edible pea markets
to Asia. This means that excess supplies 
will invariably be carried into next year 
and remain a burden on the export market.
Red lentils have fared better because we 
have not yet reached our full export 
potential. Our market shares to the main 
red lentil markets are between 15-33 per 
cent and can still be expanded upon. In 
addition, there is room for attrition for our 
competitors. It is entirely possible to double
red lentil exports; however, this will not 
be done in one year and likely will take 
several years.

What can be said about prices for the
2005 crop and this years’ crop? Based on the
world market situation, I consider red lentils
to be slightly under-priced at the moment. If
that can be rectified remains to be seen. For
next crop year budget 13-14c/lb. For large
green lentils there is little hope for price
recovery until the current crop has been 
fully dealt with. At this stage, you will need 
to budget 11c/lb.for large greens; 12c/lb for
small greens. Above average yields of 1,300
lbs/ acre (for reds), and 1,450 lbs/ acre will
likely be necessary to make good returns 
with 2006 lentils.

Chickpeas
World chickpea production was down 
7.5 per cent over the past two years. This 
has fuelled continued good export demand 
for Kabulis. Kabuli chickpea demand is 
inelastic and prices have climbed to market
heights. Canada is a very small player in 
the chickpea market and even excluding
India, the world’s largest producer from the
equation, Canada only represents 9 per cent
of chickpea production. We project Canada’s
chickpea acres to grow by at least 20 per 
cent but this will not burden the market,
especially since world carryout will be 
minimal. Mexican Kabuli production this 
year may well double but the market can
absorb that with no problem. Old crop 
prices should stay into May but will 
probably fall off towards new crop values 
after seeding. New crop values may well 
fall 10-15 per cent from the current highs. 
Do not forget to lock in your profit on the 
2005 crop. Also consider a 2006 contract;
prices are still lucrative.

Contrary to Kabulis, Desi chickpeas need
to be competitive with mung beans and

imported peas, and have not been as positive-
ly priced. There are several factors to look at
for next year:

There is optimism in India/Pakistan 
about the next Rabi crop. If this proves 
correct it will be negative to Canadian export
prospects of desis. However, should the 
crop only turn out to be average and should
pea prices improve, expect Desi prices to
improve 10-20%.

Main Kabuli Destinations – Cdn. Exports (MT)

2003/’04 2004/’05 proj. 2005/’06

Algeria 4,239 2,529 3,000

Brazil 2,050 1,424 1,500

Colombia 3,176 4,242 4,500

France 1,025 717 1,000

Italy 2,593 1,254 2,500

Portugal 2,108 592 2,200

Spain 6,088 4,764 7,000

Trinidad 1,586 942 1,000

UAE 1,399 227 1,100

UK 1,283 1,806 1,200

USA 5,508 5,367 5,000

Other 10,000 7,800 5,000

Total 41,055 31,664 35,000

Main Desi Destinations – Cdn. Exports (MT)

2003/’04 2004/’05 proj. 2005/’06

Bangladesh 3,443 1,787 3,000

India 22,569 4,153 16,000

Pakistan 6,765 9,038 6,000

Total 32,777 14,978 25,000

Grand Total 73,832 46,642 60,000

Marlene Boersch is a partner in Mercantile Consulting
Venture based in Winnipeg, MB. She was a popular
speaker at the regional pulse meetings this winter. 
For more information, please contact 
mboersch@mercantileventure.com.

Market Muse

Source: MCV

Table 5: Main chickpea destinations
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Background

The first Saskatchewan pulse producer organization was formed in 1976. In a 1984 plebiscite, producers 

voted to institute a mandatory, non-refundable check-off to fund projects to develop the industry.

The Saskatchewan Pulse Crop Development Board was born (later known as “Saskatchewan Pulse 

Growers”).

Funding

A check-off of 1% of the value of the gross sale is deducted at point of sale when a producer sells 

pulse crops.

Board

Saskatchewan Pulse Growers is directed by a Board of seven elected pulse producers.

STAFF Executive 
Director

Garth Patterson

Accounting 
Clerk

Esther Zvacek

Communications 
Manager

Penny Eaton 
(on leave)

Controller

Helen Baumgartner
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PROGRAMS

Research and Development

Our program provides funding and leadership for ongoing research, including: disease management and 

resistance, genetic improvement and quality assessment, agronomy, weed control, and processing and 

utilization of pulse crops.

Variety Release

SPG provides access to new pulse varieties developed through the CDC Pulse Breeding program by

offering Breeder seed without royalties to Select-status seed growers in Saskatchewan and Alberta.

Specialty varieties are tendered to specifi c companies.

Market Development

Our market development efforts focus on developing international and domestic market opportunities 

for pulses in human diets and livestock rations, in co-operation with Pulse Canada.

Communications

Our key communications initiatives include: PulsePoint magazine, annual reports, SPG website, Pulse Days 

annual conference, regional meetings and fi eld days.

Policy

SPG provides leadership on issues such as government investment and regulation, producer security, and 

crop protection.

Operations

SPG staff members combine industry knowledge and individual expertise to deliver programs as 

directed by SPG Board.

Offi ce 
Administrator

Tasha Nett 
and 

Brandi Walter

Records 
Administrator

Shelly Weber

Research & 
Development 
Manager

KofiAgblor 

Joelle Harris

(on leave)

Seed 
Commercialization 
Manager

Allison Krahn

Special 
Projects 
Manager

Jackie Blondeau

Field and cover 

pea field photos by

Candace Mitschke
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2005 Chairman’s Report

As your newly elected chairman, I found this year to be very challenging to say the

least. The Board’s key performance areas continue to be market development, research and

development, variety release, communications and policy. I would like to focus on some policy

issues and on market development.

In the policy realm, our board has been actively involved in several key areas. These included 

co-chairing an industry security committee to help ensure that growers get paid for the delivery of  their 

pulses. The Canadian Grain Commission has supported the committee’s recommendation that by

August 2006, all pulse buyers will be licensed and secured. This committee was composed of  all major 

stakeholders from our pulse industry. As a member of  the Farmer Rail Car Coalition Board we hope to 

help keep transportation costs to a minimum when the federal fleet of  railcars is disposed of.

In addition to the above, your Board has had active involvement with helping develop a protocol for the

federal On Farm Food Safety initiative as well as for traceability concerns within the agricultural sector.

In response to a large number of  grower concerns, we embarked on a fact-finding mission to 

look into how the U.S. loan deficiency program has affected U.S. pulse production and its subsequent 

effect on the prices of  Canadian pulses. Less than 10% of  our exports are U.S. origin pulses; however, 

we expect that this will increase next year. There are many factors which have contributed to low grower 

prices for peas and lentils; these include the increasing value of  the Canadian dollar in relation to the 

This year’s crop 

included 3.2 

million tonnes of 

peas in Canada.
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Our goal is to have 

500,000 acres or 

more of profi table 

sustained chickpea 

production in western 

Canada.

Executive Director’s Report

Our record production of  peas and lentils over the past two years has been a double-edged 

sword for our industry. As the world’s leading exporter, there is now no doubt that Canada can reliably 

produce, process and export enough peas and lentils to satisfy the markets. However, our high inventories, 

combined with the increased value of  the Canadian dollar, and high transportation costs

 have lead to record low margins for growers and processors.

There is no short-term solution to this dilemma. From a simple marketing perspective we

can either reduce our supply or increase demand but our industry is more complex than that. Even 

if  we reduce our seeded acreage, supply and quality are signifi cantly influenced by weather. Secondly, 

competitors such as the U.S., Australia and China continue to increase their pulse production.

Our peas and lentils are now commodities. This means that we have to be effi cient and 

innovative in supplying, producing, processing and shipping product to our customers. We must continue 

to search for premiums in markets that place a higher value on differentiated product. Extra large, top 

quality green lentils are an example of  a product that can be differentiated and marketed at a premium.

This past year we followed through on our intentions to increase our emphasis on investments 

that will create demand for our pulses. These include:

1. 585% increase in research related to value added processing. This combined with Pulse Canada’s 

$3.2 million Pulse Innovation Program on health and wellness will increase demand in North 

America for our pulses. This will be a long-term process, however, the U.S. soy and almond 

industries have proven that this approach works.

2. 15% increase in market development funding. We have increased our support of  Pulse Canada’s 

efforts to increase pulse trade through reduced trade barriers, increased awareness of  the 

attributes of  Canadian pulses, and increased harmonization of  crop protection products. 
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Project # Project Amount Researcher Organization

AGRONOMY

AGR0301 Investigation into the Biology of Stemphylium botryosum,
a Potentially New Pathogen in Lentil Production in 
Saskatchewan

 $5,530 Banniza Crop Development Centre

AGR0302 Investigation into the Population Structure of Ascochyta lentis  5,400 Banniza Crop Development Centre

AGR0303 Lower Costs of Production of Chickpea  2,100 Nybo Wheatland Conservation Area

AGR0311 Additive Effects of Group 2 Herbicides on Crop Tolerance 
and Re-cropping Restrictions

 72,562 Johnson Agriculture & Agri-Food Canada

AGR0317 Extension for: Control of Sclerotinia Stem Rot in 
Small-Seeded Lentil Production in the Black Soil Zone

 7,500 Banniza Crop Development Centre

AGR0319 Developing Management Strategies to Reduce the Risks and 
Costs of Chickpea Production 

 7,500 Gan Agriculture & Agri-Food Canada

AGR0401 Sources of Resistance/Tolerance to Mycosphaerella Blight 
of Pea

 8,000 Gossen Agriculture & Agri-Food Canada

AGR0402 Developing Best Management Options to Improve the 
Indeterminate Growth Habit of Chickpea

 26,600 Gan Agriculture & Agri-Food Canada

AGR0403 Impact of In-crop and Soil Residual Herbicides on Nodulation 
and Effective Nitrogen Fixation in Field Pea and Chickpea

 6,000 Walley University of Saskatchewan

AGR0410 Addressing Quality Issues of Saskatchewan Pulses with 
Advanced Harvesting Techniques

 2,700 Nybo Wheatland Conservation Area

AGR0508 Assessing the Benefits of Inoculation at Field Scale - 
Is Inoculation Necessary on Long-Term Pulse Land?

 48,355 Walley University of Saskatchewan

AGR0509 Variety Specific Agronomy: Red Lentil Quality  54,117 Vandenberg Crop Development Centre

AGR0510 Basal Branching in Field Pea:A Strategy for Reducing Seeding 
Rates and Increasing Weed Competition

 47,695 Shirtliffe University of Saskatchewan

AGR0511 Optimizing Lentil and Pea Agronomy for Organic Production  65,150 Walley/
Shirtliffe

University of Saskatchewan

AGR0512 Controlling Indeterminate Lentil Crop Growth Through 
Nitrogen Supply

 95,719 Ball University of Saskatchewan

AGR0513 Evaluation of Soybean Varieties & the Effect of Plant Population 
on an Early Soybean Variety in Southeast Saskatchewan

 5,000 Chalmers South East Research Farm Inc.

AGR0514 Comparison of Indeterminate and Determinate Early Pinto 
Bean Varieties to Foliar Fungicide White Mold Control

 5,000 Chalmers South East Research Farm Inc.

AGR0515 Addressing Quality Issues of Saskatchewan Pulses with 
Advanced Harvesting Techniques

 7,350 Nybo Wheatland Conservation Area

AGR0520 Effects of Grain Legumes in No-Till Cropping Systems on Soil 
Quality and Nitrous Oxide Emissions

 28,720 Mckell Indian Head Agricultural 
Research Foundation

AGR0521 Using Extra Small Red Lentil Seed as a Cover Crop Following 
Dry Edible Beans in Ontario

 2,760 Gillard University of Guelph

BREEDING

BRE9701 Pulse Crop Breeding Program  491,968 Vandenberg/ 
Warkentin

Crop Development Centre

BRE0124 Integrated Long Term Strategy for Genetic Improvement of 
Resistance to Ascochyta Blight and Anthracnose in Lentil

 96,600 Vandenberg Crop Development Centre

BRE0253 Developing Faba Bean as a Feed, Forage and Food Pulse for 
the Prairies

 30,250 Vandenberg Crop Development Centre

BRE0257 An International Collaboration for the Development of New 
and Improved Sources of Ascochyta Resistance in Chickpea

 42,997 Lulsdorf Crop Development Centre

BRE0304 Strategy for Genetic Improvement of Ascochyta Blight 
Resistance in Chickpea

 80,759 Warkentin Crop Development Centre

BRE0305 Improving the Quality Profile of Dry Beans for the Canadian 
Prairies Using Genetic and Metabolomic Approaches

 18,135 Bett University of Saskatchewan

BRE0310 Identifying Genetic Resources for Resistance to Ascochyta 
Blight of Chickpea

 (56,403) Gossen Agriculture & Agri-Food Canada

BRE0316 International Efforts to Develop Doubled-Haploid Technology 
for Field Pea (Pisum sativum L.) and Lentil (Lens culinaris L.)

 101,136 Vandenberg Crop Development Centre

SCHEDULE OF SPG RESEARCH EXPENDITURES
YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2005 (PREPARED BY MANAGEMENT) 

Domestic 

consumption of 

peas continues 

to increase.
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Beans continue 

to be the focus 

of research in 

the province.

Project # Project Amount Researcher Organization

BRE0321 Identification and Transfer of Genes Related to Frost 
Tolerance from Phaseolus angustissimus to P. vulgaris

104,891 Bett University of Saskatchewan

BRE0404 Development of Low Phytate Peas 20,353 Warkentin Crop Development Centre

BRE0405 On-farm Pulse Crop Germplasm Evaluation 57,240 Warkentin Crop Development Centre

BRE0406 Adding Value to Lentils Through Improvement of Visual 
Quality Characteristics

37,750 Bett University of Saskatchewan

BRE0407 2004 Pulse Crop Regional Variety Trials in Saskatchewan 23,369 Warkentin Crop Development Centre

BRE0408 Pea Genetic Improvement Program 563,397 Various public & private breeding programs 

BRE0501 National Gene Deployment Strategy for Control of 
Common Bacterial Blight for the Canadian Dry Bean Industry

 15,000 Pauls University of Guelph

BRE0502 Genetic Diversity and Potential Use of Pea Germplasm from 
Eastern Europe and Eurasia for Genetic Improvement of 
Canadian Peas

 15,536 Diederichsen Agriculture & Agri-Food Canada

BRE0503 Identification of SNP Markers linked to Ascochyta Resistance 
in Chickpea for Cultivar Improvement in Canada 

 53,820 Buchwaldt Agriculture & Agri-Food Canada

BRE0504 Collection of Pulse Genetic Resources in Western Ukraine  8,453 Diederichsen Agriculture & Agri-Food Canada

BRE0505 Improving the Value of Field Peas for Human Consumption 
Markets

 32,220 Warkentin Crop Development Centre

BRE0506 Understanding and Improving Carbohydrate Composition to 
add Value to Lentils 

 44,688 Chibbar University of Saskatchewan

BRE0507 Improving Ascochyta rabiei Resistance in Chickpea  90,915 Warkentin Crop Development Centre

BRE0522 2005 Pulse Crop Regional Variety Trials in Saskatchewan  70,728 Warkentin Crop Development Centre

PROCESSING

PRO0314 Development of a Near Infrared Refl ectance Spectroscopy 
(NIRS) Method for Predicting the Canning Quality of Dry 
Bean, Kabuli Chickpea, and Field Pea (Yellow and Green)

 14,982 Han University of Saskatchewan

PRO0409 Evaluation and Development of Superior Feed Peas Using 
Chemical, NIR and Net Energy Evaluation

 30,073 Racz University of Saskatchewan

PRO0518 The Use of Canola, Pea and Flax Fractions in Aquafeeds  13,200 Drew University of Saskatchewan

PRO0519 Expanding Utilization of Pulses in Meat Processing  35,204 Shand University of Saskatchewan

PRO0523 Comparative Analysis of Functional and Wellness Properties 
of Lentils: Can Lentils Improve Soccer Performance

 108,675 Chilibeck University of Saskatchewan

PRO0524 Studies on Incorporation of Pulse Flours and Fractions into 
Pasta and Noodles

 57,799 Tyler University of Saskatchewan

PRO0525 Pea Hull Fibre Fortification of Cereal-based Foods  40,300 Dahl University of Saskatchewan

PRO0526 Development and Commercialization of Pulse-based Pureed 
Foods

 31,625 Dahl University of Saskatchewan

PRO0527 Establishing the Digestible Nutrient Content and Rate of 
Starch Digestion of Peas for Poultry as Affected by Processing 
and Pea Cultivar

 40,250 Classen University of Saskatchewan

PRO0528 Enhancing the Economic Value and the Use of Field Peas by
the Pork and Feed Industries

 49,120 Patience Prairie Swine Center Inc.

PRO0529 Sensory Analysis of Baked Goods and Gluten-free Products 
Prepared with Field Pea Starches

 25,500 Hood Parrheim Foods

PRO0530 Evaluation of Technologies for Production of Edible Snack 
Foods with Demonstrated Health Benefits from Peas

 70,725 Arntfield University of Manitoba

PRO0531 Low Glycemic Index (GI) Starch from Canadian Grown 
Pulses

 55,200 Liu Agriculture & Agri-Food Canada

PRO0532 Biofunctional and Physicochemical Properties of Pea, Chick-
pea and Lentil Protein Blends

 53,261 Boye Agriculture & Agri-Food Canada

GENERAL

SCHAS Dr.Alfred E. Slinkard Scholarship  20,000 University of Saskatchewan

SCHDJ Saskatchewan Pulse Crop Development Board Don Jaques 
Memorial Fellowship

 20,000 University of Saskatchewan

Total  $3,113,474 

SCHEDULE OF SPG RESEARCH EXPENDITURES Continued 
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To the Board of Directors of Saskatchewan Pulse Crop Development Board

We have audited Saskatchewan Pulse Crop Development Board’s control as of August 31, 2005, to express an opinion 

as to the effectiveness of its control related to the following objectives:

• To safeguard public resources.That is, to ensure its assets are not lost or used inappropriately; to ensure it 

does not inappropriately incur obligations; to establish a financial plan to achieve its goals; and to monitor 

and react to its progress towards the objectives established in its fi nancial plan.

• To prepare reliable fi nancial reports.

• To conduct its activities following laws, regulations and policies related to financial reporting, safeguarding 

public resources, revenue raising, spending, borrowing and investing.

We used the control framework developed by The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) to make 

our judgments about the effectiveness of Saskatchewan Pulse Crop Development Board’s control.We did not audit 

certain aspects of control concerning the effectiveness, economy, and efficiency of certain management decision-

making processes.

The CICA defines control as comprising those elements of an organization that, taken together, support people in the

achievement of the organization’s objectives. Control is effective to the extent that it provides reasonable assurance that

the organization will achieve its objectives reliably.

Saskatchewan Pulse Crop Development Board’s management is responsible for effective control related to the 

objectives described above. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the effectiveness of control based on our 

audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with standards for assurance engagements established by the CICA.Those 

standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to effectiveness of Saskatchewan 

Pulse Crop Development Board’s control related to the objectives stated above. An audit includes obtaining an 

understanding of the significant risks related to these objectives, the key control elements and control activities to 

manage these risks and examining, on a test basis, evidence relating to control.

In our opinion, Saskatchewan Pulse Crop Development Board’s control was effective, in all signifi cant respects, related 

to the objectives stated above as of August 31, 2005, based on the CICA criteria of control framework.

Control can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance of achieving objectives reliably for two reasons. First,

there are inherent limitations in control including judgment in decision-making, human error, collusion to circumvent 

control activities and management overriding control. Second, cost/benefit decisions are made when designing control 

in organizations. Because control can be expected to provide only reasonable assurance, not absolute assurance, the 

objectives referred to above may not be achieved reliably. Also, projections of any evaluation of control to future 

periods are subject to the risk that control may become ineffective because of changes in internal and external 

conditions, or the degree of compliance with control activities may deteriorate.

SASKATOON, SASKATCHEWAN “HERGOTT DUVAL STACK & PARTNERS LLP”

November 10, 2005        Chartered Accountants

Chickpea is an 

excellent crop for 

generating spinoff 

wealth in rural 

Saskatchewan.
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HERGOTT DUVAL STACK & PARTNERS LLP —————————————   CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

PARTNERS
LYLE ZDUNICH, CA PC Inc.
R. JOE PARKER, BComm CA
THOMAS J. STACK, CA PC Inc.
BARRY FRANK, CA Prof. Corp.
BLAIR DAVIDSON, CA Prof. Corp.
BERNIE A. BROUGHTON, CA Prof. Corp.
DAVID W. BALLANTYNE, CBV FCA
CRAIG HERMANN, CA PC Inc.
CAROL MAILLOUX, CA PC Ltd.
EVAN SHOFOROST, CA PC Ltd.
ORLO DREWITZ, CA PC Ltd.
GREG KELLER, CA Prof. Corp.

SENIOR COUNSEL
LEE HERGOTT, BComm CA

MAURICE DUVAL, BComm CA

1200 SASKATOON SQUARE
410-22nd STREET EAST

SASKATOON, SASKATCHEWAN
S7K 5T6

TELEPHONE (306) 934-8000
FAX (306) 653-5859

E-MAIL: offi ce@hdsp.ca
www.hergottduval.sk.ca

Saskatchewan Pulse Crop Development Board and Saskatchewan Agri-Food Council

Dear Sirs:

We have made an examination to determine whether the Saskatchewan Pulse Crop Development Board complied 

with the provisions of the following legislative and related authorities pertaining to its financial reporting, safeguarding 

of assets, spending, revenue-raising, borrowing and investing activities during the year ended August 31, 2005:

The Agri-Food Act, 2004

The Pulse Crop Development Plan Regulations

Our examination was made in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, and accordingly 

included such tests and other procedures, as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

In our opinion, the Saskatchewan Pulse Crop Development Board has complied, in all significant respects, with the 

provisions of the aforementioned legislative and related authorities during the year ended August 31, 2005.

SASKATOON, SASKATCHEWAN “HERGOTT DUVAL STACK & PARTNERS LLP”

November 10, 2005        Chartered Accountants

AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Members of Saskatchewan Pulse Crop Development Board

We have audited the statement of financial position of Saskatchewan Pulse Crop Development Board as at August 31,

2005, and the statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended.These fi nancial 

statements are the responsibility of the Board’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 

financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.Those standards require 

that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of 

material misstatement.An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 

in the financial statements.An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and signifi cant estimates 

made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Board as at 

August 31, 2005 and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian 

generally accepted accounting principles.

SASKATOON, SASKATCHEWAN “HERGOTT DUVAL STACK & PARTNERS LLP”

November 10, 2005        Chartered Accountants

Pulses have 

signifi cant health 

benefi ts, are 

reasonably priced,

readily available 

and taste great.
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SASKATCHEWAN PULSE CROP DEVELOPMENT BOARD

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AUGUST 31, 2005

2005 2004

ASSETS

Current Assets 
Cash   $ 991,381  $ 813,630 
Cash - externally restricted (Note 3)    242,370   137,174 
Net Pulse Field Lab receivable (Note 3)   6,289   - 
Investments (market value - $1,831,916)   1,825,635   1,739,942 
Accounts receivable  689,581   295,668 
Inventory  12,627   13,660 
Prepaid expenses  53,060   48,444 
Accrued interest receivable  100,524   81,290 

3,921,467  3,129,808 
Capital assets (Note 4)  355,053   341,124 
Investments - restricted (market value - $1,000,000)  1,000,000   1,000,000

$ 5,276,520 $ 4,470,932 

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities 
Accounts payable   $ 938,675 $ 747,126 

NET ASSETS

Externally restricted (Note 3)  248,659   137,174 
Invested in capital assets  355,053   341,124 
Internally restricted  1,000,000   1,000,000 
Unrestricted  2,734,133   2,245,508 

4,337,845  3,723,806 

$ 5,276,520 $ 4,470,932 

Approved by the Board

 Director Director
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SASKATCHEWAN PULSE CROP DEVELOPMENT BOARD

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2005

2005                      2004

Budget Actual Actual

 (Note 10)

Revenue

Check-off $ 5,500,000 $ 5,184,037 $ 4,369,329 

Research and development - 25,500 4,500 

Extension and communication 233,800 187,721 221,903 

 Variety release 284,950 299,878 275,648 

 Interest 80,000 128,416 108,415 

Domestic market development 8,000 8,000 3,000 

 6,106,750 5,833,552 4,982,795 

Expenses (Schedule 1)

Research and development 3,500,000 3,113,474 2,252,010 

Extension and communication 411,700 378,364 352,032 

 Variety release 353,700 333,679 289,369 

Pulse Canada (Note 6)  563,000 565,288 499,667 

 Directors 190,650 133,121 215,101 

 Offi ce 754,550 741,238 603,363 

Domestic market development 84,900 41,855 27,653 

 Policy development 50,000 23,979 53,357 

 5,908,500 5,330,998 4,292,552 

Excess of revenue over expenses $ 198,250 $ 502,554 $ 690,243 
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SASKATCHEWAN PULSE CROP DEVELOPMENT BOARD

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2005

 Externally Invested
 Restricted in Capital Internally 
Net Assets (Note 3) Assets Restricted Unrestricted 2005 2004

Balance, beginning  $ 137,174 $ 341,124 $ 1,000,000 $ 2,245,508 $ 3,723,806 $ 2,970,889
      of the year 
Excess of revenue  
      over expenses - - - 502,554 502,554 690,243
Pulse Field Lab
    Contributions 1,564,841 - - - 1,564,841 62,674 
    Expenditures (1,453,356) - - - (1,453,356) - 
Purchase of 
      capital assets - 34,111 - (34,111) - - 
Loss on write down 
      of capital assets - (6,326) - 6,326 - - 
Amortization - (13,856) - 13,856 - - 

Balance, end of year $ 248,659 $ 355,053 $ 1,000,000 $ 2,734,133 $ 4,337,845 $ 3,723,806 

SASKATCHEWAN PULSE CROP DEVELOPMENT BOARD

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2005

2005 2004
Cash flows from operating activities

Excess of revenue over expenses $ 502,554 $ 690,243 
Items not affecting cash

Amortization 13,856   11,238 
Loss on writedown of capital assets      6,326 8,005 

Net change in non-cash working capital balances
relating to operations:

Accounts receivable (393,913) 287,622 
Inventory 1,033   1,824 
Prepaid expenses (4,616) (3,750)
Accrued interest receivable (19,234) (16,439)
Accounts payable 191,549 637,213 

 297,555  1,615,956 

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of capital assets (34,111) (14,658)
Investments  (85,693) (1,001,286)

 (119,804) (1,015,944)

Net increase in cash during the year 177,751   600,012 
Cash, beginning of year  813,630 213,618 

Cash, end of year $ 991,381 $ 813,630
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For 2004-2005 

Canadian pulse 

production 

accounts for 8% 

of global pulse 

production.

SASKATCHEWAN PULSE CROP DEVELOPMENT BOARD

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AUGUST 31, 2005

1. Nature of organization
The Saskatchewan Pulse Crop Development Board (“the Board”) is a non-profit organization which was 
established in 1984 under the Agri-Food Act of Saskatchewan.

The mission of the Board is to provide leadership for an innovative, profitable and sustainable Saskatchewan 
pulse industry, through research, market development and communication, in collaboration with 
stakeholders.

2. Significant accounting policies
The financial statements have been prepared to reflect the following significant accounting policies:

Investments
Investments are recorded at the lower of cost and fair market value.

 Inventory
Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

 Capital assets
Land and equipment are stated at cost. Equipment is amortized using the declining balance method at a 
rate of 20 to 50%. On acquisitions of equipment during the year, amortization is calculated at one-half the 
annual rate.

Appropriation of funds
The Board of Directors has approved the appropriation of certain funds generated from operations to be 
set aside to be used in the future as an operating reserve.The amounts of these appropriations and the 
appropriated balances are accounted for and disclosed separately in the financial statements as internally 
restricted funds.

 Revenue recognition
Check-off are recognized at the time of settlement.

Pledges related to the fundraising effort for the Pulse Field Lab are recognized when collected as a direct 
increase to the externally restricted net asset fund.

Research contributions and donations are recognized in these financial statements in the period defi ned in 
the terms and conditions of the respective agreements.

The organization follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. Externally restricted 
contributions other than those related to the Pulse Field Lab capital project are recognized as revenue in 
the year in which the related expenses are incurred. Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue 
when received or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is 
assured.

 Income taxes
No provision for income taxes has been made in these financial statements as the organization is exempt 
from income tax under Section 149 (1) of the Income Tax Act.
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SASKATCHEWAN PULSE CROP DEVELOPMENT BOARD

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AUGUST 31, 2005

2. Significant accounting policies continued

Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount 
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.

By nature, asset valuations are subjective and do not necessarily result in precise determinations. Should 
underlying assumptions change, the estimated net recoverable amount could change by a material amount.

Management periodically reviews the carrying value of the capital assets to ensure that the carrying value can 
be recovered from future cash flows. Management also periodically reviews the useful lives of the capital assets 
to determine, in their judgement, an adequate charge against income for amortization expense.

3. Externally restricted contributions
In 2002, the Saskatchewan Pulse Crop Development Board launched a capital fundraising campaign to raise $1.5 
million to expand pulse research facilities at the University of Saskatchewan.This represents approximately 
50% of the estimated $3 million required to fund the establishment of a Pulse Field Lab Facility (“the Facility”).
The remaining funding will come from the Saskatchewan Agriculture Food & Rural Revitalization Agri-Food 
Innovation Fund.As of August 31, 2005, construction on the pulse field lab research facility was approximately 
two-thirds complete, with the fundraising efforts of the Board contributing $1,453,356 toward project costs 
to the end of August 31, 2005.

In addition to project management, communications, and fundraising support, the Board has committed to 
funding $750,000 for the Facility, of which $329,892 has been received from industry, while another $335,333 
has been pledged to August 31, 2005.To the extent that the full $750,000 is not funded by the fundraising 
campaign efforts, the Board will contribute the funds necessary to meet the fundraising target, provided that 
the funds are required to complete the pulse field lab facility.The total potential liability of the Board, when 
considering the above pledges and amounts received, is expected to be under $90,000.

Included in the net pulse field lab receivable amount of $6,289, are accounts receivable and accounts payable 
of $272,493 and $266,204 respectively, which were outstanding as at August 31, 2005.

4. Capital assets
2005 2004

Accumulated Net Book Net Book 
 Cost Amortization Value Value
Equipment $ 95,408 $ 43,355 $ 52,053 $ 38,124 
Land  303,000 - 303,000 303,000

$ 398,408 $ 43,355 $ 355,053 $ 341,124

5. Financial instruments
The carrying value of current financial assets and current financial liabilities are considered to approximate 
their fair market value unless otherwise disclosed.

6. Pulse Canada
Pulse Canada is a national organization comprised of the pulse trade and pulse grower organizations from 
Alberta, Saskatchewan, Manitoba and Ontario. Saskatchewan Pulse Grower payments comprise approximately 
70% of Pulse Canada’s revenue from growers and the trade in Canada. Pulse Canada’s key activities include:

• tariff reduction
• acting on non-tariff trade barriers and trade irritants (peas to India and lentils to Algeria)
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SASKATCHEWAN PULSE CROP DEVELOPMENT BOARD

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AUGUST 31, 2005

6. Pulse Canada continued

• developing new markets for Canadian pulses (development of new pulse product value chains in 
the North American market)

• developing pulse quality profiles, development of an international initiative to standardize quality 
measurement

• communicating to pulse buyers
• increasing access to crop production strategies
• interacting with the federal government regarding research funding, programs and regulations.

7.  Research and development grants
The Board of Directors has approved future funding for several research and development projects.Amounts 
committed to these projects in each of the next five years, assuming the terms of the contracts are fulfi lled,
are as follows:

2006  $ 3,340,037
2007  2,080,973
2008  1,639,439
2009  1,439,529
2010  1,455,188

8. Lease commitments
A three-year lease agreement which expires in 2006, exists with the Saskatchewan Opportunities Corporation 
for the premises at 411 Downey Road, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan; multi-year agreements exist with various 
suppliers of office equipment.Yearly rental payments due in each of the next four years are as follows:

2006  $ 64,307
2007  9,461
2008  4,524
2009  188

9. Cash advance program
Effective March 22, 2002, the administration of the Cash Advance Program was assigned to the Canadian 
Canola Growers Association (“CCGA”). Based on this agreement with the CCGA, the Board will have no 
further obligations as an administrator and will incur no additional liabilities with respect to cash advances 
issued from this date forth. Initially when the cash advance program became available to producers, the Board 
entered into an agreement with the Manitoba Corn Growers Association Inc. (“MCGA”) to administer this 
program.The Board maintains obligation and liability relating to its activities as an administrator with the 
MCGA.As at the report date, there were approximately $1,527,069 of producer advances outstanding from 
its previous administrator activities with the MCGA.These amounts were provided to the program through 
a bank loan and are guaranteed by the government.

10. Budgeted fi gures
These figures are based on the budget as presented at the Annual General Meeting held on January 10, 2005,
and subsequently revised August 23, 2005, and have been reclassified to conform to the fi nancial statement 
presentation.

11. Subsequent event
Subsequent to year end, the Board approved the purchase of 320 acres of research land at a cost of $2,150 
per acre, to be used for pulse crop research by the Crop Development Centre.The approximate purchase 
price of this land will be $688,000.
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Schedule 1

SASKATCHEWAN PULSE CROP DEVELOPMENT BOARD

SCHEDULE OF EXPENSES

YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2005

2005                2004
Budget Actual Actual

(Note 10)

Research and development
Agronomy $ 143,892 $ 503,758 $ 249,737 
Breeding 1,482,288   1,943,802   1,854,425 
Value added processes 45,055   625,914   91,348 
General 40,000   40,000   56,500 
Available for new projects 1,788,765 -   - 

 3,500,000  3,113,474  2,252,010 

Extension and communication
Communications 206,400   169,170   164,993 
Crop production week 176,300   178,873   147,189 
Extension meetings 10,000   15,442   14,999 
Field day 16,300   12,015   14,213 
Other 2,700   2,864   10,638 

411,700   378,364   352,032 

Variety release 353,700   333,679   289,369 

Pulse Canada (Note 6) 563,000   565,288   499,667 

Directors
Communications 3,450   3,669   3,268 
Election 23,000   - 24,950 
Honoraria 60,000   58,862   79,859 
Travel 65,300   49,318   80,450 
Other 38,900   21,272   26,574 

190,650   133,121   215,101 

Offi ce
Communications 15,700   14,892   13,973 
Contract work 144,000   142,773   140,095 
Fundraising 33,500   22,917   - 
Office 86,750   91,864   75,033 
Salaries and benefits 441,000   441,253   322,998 
Travel 20,800   16,198   22,545 
Other 12,800   11,341   28,719 

754,550   741,238   603,363 

Domestic market development 84,900 41,855 27,653 

Policy development 50,000   23,979   53,357 

$ 5,908,500 $ 5,330,998 $ 4,292,552
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2005 Board of Directors

DEAN CORBETT  CHAIRMAN
Dean, a third-generation farmer from Macrorie,
attended the University of Saskatchewan and the 
University of Calgary. Before retiring he served as 
teacher and principal in Daysland,Alberta, and Macrorie 
and Loreburn, Saskatchewan. He is a baseball coach and 
President of the Saskatchewan Valley Hockey League.

LLOYD AFFLECK  DIRECTOR
Lloyd, who farms near Beechy, has grown pedigreed 
seed for the past 35 years – 20 of which have included 
pulses. He is currently Vice-Chair of the Pulse Canada 
Board. Lloyd has been active in the community, acting 
as Trustee with the Outlook School Division and a 
coach for minor-league hockey. Lloyd was previously 
a director with the Saskatchewan Pulse Crop 
Development Board from 1992 to 1995.

MAURICE BERRY   DIRECTOR
Maurice farms in southeast Saskatchewan near 
Carievale in a family partnership called Berry Farms.
In 1998, he completed his three-year Diploma of 
Agriculture from the University of Saskatchewan. He 
is currently a Director on the Pulse Canada Board,
RM councilor, a member of the Redvers and District 
Marketing Club and a Director of the South East 
Research Farm at Redvers.

RON HUNDEBY  VICE-CHAIRMAN
Ron operates a 3,300-acre grain farm near Elbow, and 
is also a pedigreed seed grower. Since graduating from 
the Voc.Ag. Program at the University of Saskatchewan,
Ron has served on many boards and committees,
including the Credit Union, national church board and 
the Elbow marketing club.

JIM MOEN  DIRECTOR
Jim farms 4,000-acres of pedigreed and commercial 
seed near Cabri. He has his Agriculture degree and is a 
member of the Saskatchewan Institute of Agrologists.
He has worked as an agrologist and consultant 
throughout Saskatchewan and in Africa. He remains 
active in the Lions Club in Cabri.

BARBARA PODHORODESKI  DIRECTOR
Barbara operates a mixed-farming operation near the 
town of Shipman and earned her Agriculture degree 
from the University of Saskatchewan in 1990. She 
currently represents SPG on the Western Grains 
Research Foundation Board. She has worked with the 
PFRA and the Conservation Learning Centre, and is 
past-Chair of the Saskatchewan Canola Development 
Commission.

JOHN BENNETT  DIRECTOR
John has farmed in the Biggar area for more than 30 
years. He has a no-till operation growing pulses, oilseed 
and cereals. John is past President of the Saskatchewan 
Soil Conservation Association (SSCA) and on the board 
of the Saskatchewan Research Council. He was named 
SSCA Farmer of the Year in 1993 and Canadian No-Till 
Farmer of the Year in 2000. He is also a speaker for the 
Agriculture Institute of Management in Saskatchewan 
(AIMS) on the topics of carbon credits and the Kyoto 
Accord.

Vision

Jim Moen, Maurice Berry, John Bennett,
Lloyd Affleck, Ron Hundeby, Dean Corbett, Barbara Podhorodeski
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Vision

Saskatchewan will be a world leader in the production, processing, and 

marketing of high quality and high value pulse products for a viable and 

profitable pulse industry.

Mission

To provide leadership for an innovative, profitable and sustainable 

Saskatchewan pulse industry, through research, market development and 

communication in collaboration with stakeholders.

Values

At Saskatchewan Pulse Growers we:

• Strive for excellence

• Conduct ourselves with honesty and integrity

• Show respect for the individual

• Act with professionalism

Saskatchewan 
Pulse Growers

104-411 Downey Road

Saskatoon, SK  S7N 4L8

306.668.5556 Phone

306.668.5557 Fax

pulse@saskpulse.com

www.saskpulse.com
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Saskatchewan Pulse Growers and Saskatchewan Canola Growers Association have teamed up

with AAFC Melfort to present a half-day of agronomics and breeding updates, along with the

opportunity to meet other farm leaders, top researchers and industry representatives.

Of particular interest to pulse producers… The tour will showcase:

• Intensive rotation of field pea (and canola). This trial looks at pest implications of field 

pea grown every year, and every two, three or four years, including application of 

Headline fungicide.

• Crop diversity. This trial includes red lentil and field pea in the pulse phase of each of 

3 four-year rotations: (a) cereal based, (b) balanced between broadleaf and cereal crops 

and (c) broadleaf intensive.

• Pulse variety trials. Regional trials that study the adaptation to the northern Parkland region

of recently registered varieties of field pea, dry bean and lentil.

Watch for the next issue of the Pulse Point for more information.

AAFC Research Station, Melfort

Wednesday, July 19, 2006

7:30 AM breakfast start
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Pulse Days 2006
Almost 900 people registered

to take in Pulse Days held

January 9th and 10th in

Saskatoon. Pulse Days means

different things to different

people. Enjoy some images

and highlights of the event.

Lyle Minogue is presented with the BASF

Pulse Promoter Award of 2006. Lyle is a

long-standing promoter of pulse both on

and off the Board of Directors.

Pulses were features in delicious

luncheon menus.

Networking is a great benefit
to all who attend.
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Al Slinkard presents the scholarship

to Yadeta Kabeta. Yadeta says he is

thrilled to meet such a legend in

the pulse-breeding field.

Speakers shared information on topics from
nutrition to inoculants to markets. Humberto
Barragan shared opportunities that exist in the
Colombian lentil market.

Delegates can talk to the authors of the many

posters displayed at the Wine and Cheese session.

This popular evening is a chance to learn of new

research and socialize with other participants.

Students from the Faculty of Agriculturewere on hand to make things run smoothlyand to learn from the variety of speakers.
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Registered Pulse Buyers
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Saskatchewan Pulse Growers makes no claim as to the reliability of the companies listed here. It is the personal responsibility of growers to satisfy 
themselves that any company they deal with is financially sound. Some of the companies on this list are registered with the Canadian Grain Commission,
and some are not. Some companies do not need to be registered themselves as they are acting as agents for other companies.

Please take the time to ensure you’re dealing with a reliable company. Ask questions of the company. Ask for references. Contact the Canadian Grain
Commission to ask about licensing and security. See www.grainscanada.gc.ca or call (800) 853-6705 or (306) 780-5035 in Saskatchewan.

Note: “Registered Pulse Buyers” refers to companies that have registered with SPG to deduct and remit the pulse check-off; it does not imply endorsement.
For a full listing of buyers, processors and brokers see www.saskpulse.com.

Agricom International Inc. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 604-983-6922 North Vancouver, BC www.agricom.com

Agricore United — Beans & Special Crops ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 403-382-3400 Lethbridge, AB 1-888-442-8398

Agricore United — Dry Bean ◆ 403-223-2772 Taber, AB www.agricoreunited.com

Agricore United — Head Office ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 204-944-5411 Winnipeg, MB www.agricoreunited.com

Agricore United — SK Special Crops ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-751-4920 Regina, SK www.agricoreunited.com

Agricore United — SK Special Crops ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-343-5079 Saskatoon, SK www.agricoreunited.com

Agtech Processors Inc. ◆ 306-721-5171 Regina, SK 1-800-667-7778

Belle Pulses Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-423-5202 Bellevue, SK bellepulses@sasktel.net

Best Cooking Pulses Inc. ◆ 306-586-7111 Rowatt, SK www.bestcookingpulses.com

Big Sky Farms Inc. ◆ 306-682-5041 Humboldt, SK www.bigsky.sk.ca

Blue Hills Processors Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-868-4488 Avonlea, SK www.bhpl.ca

Bornhorst Seeds Ltd. ◆ ◆ 306-366-2158 St. Gregor, SK bbornhorst@sasktel.net

Brett-Young Seeds Limited Partnership ◆ 800-468-6509 Gilbert Plains, MB www.byseeds.com

C. B. Constantini Ltd. ◆ ◆ 306-373-9730 Saskatoon, SK lyn.mcmillan@cbconstantini.com

C. B. Constantini Ltd. ◆ ◆ 604-669-1212 Vancouver, BC michael.chong@cbconstantini.com

Canary Island Seed Associates Inc. ◆ ◆ ◆ 306 885 4444 Sedley, SK sedleyseeds@cableregina.com

Canpulse Foods ◆ 306-463-4444 Kindersley, SK canpulsekindersley@sasktel.net

CanIndia Pulses International Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-882-4482 Zealandia, SK procan@sasktel.net

Cargill Limited ◆ 204-947-0141 Winnipeg, MB www.cargill.ca

Cargill Animal Nutrition ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 403-329-4462 Lethbridge, AB andrew.g.barwegen@cargill.com

Chesterfield Stock Farm (1997) Ltd. ◆ 306-460-9344 Mantario, SK

Conida Seed Co. ◆ 208-829-5411 Hazelton, ID  USA cbarlow@trinidadbenham.com

C-Shore International Inc. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 818-909-4684 Glendale, CA www.beantrader.com

Diefenbaker Seed Processors Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306 644-4704 Elbow, SK lionelector.stulor@sasktel.net

Elite Stock Farm Ltd. ◆ ◆ 306-243-2005 Outlook, SK elite.sf@sasktel.net

EXP Feeds ◆ ◆ ◆ 204-759-3000 Shoal Lake, MB www.expfeeds.com

Export Packers Company Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 905-792-9700 Brampton, ON www.exportpackers.com

Farmer Direct Co-operative Ltd. (organic) ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-352-2444 Regina, SK www.farmerdirect.coop

Farmer Grain Dealers Inc. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 519-676-7510 Blenheim, ON www.fcstone.com

Fill-More Seeds Inc. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-722-3353 Fillmore, SK www.fillmoreseeds.com

Finora Inc. - Assiniboia ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-642-5920 Assiniboia, SK assiniboia@finora.com

Finora Inc. - Wilkie ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-843-2507 Wilkie, SK wilkie@finora.com

Finora Inc. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 604-597-5060 Surrey, BC finora@istar.ca
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Registered Pulse Buyers

GH Schweitzer Enterprises Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-962-4751 Eston, SK www.schweitzer.sk.ca

Globeways Canada Inc. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 905-812-0210 Mississauga, ON www.sara-inc.com

Grainex International Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 604-535-9794 Surrey, BC tim@grainexcan.com

Great Sandhills Terminal Marketing Centre ◆ 306-628-4452 Leader, SK gary.lang@gst.ca

Great Western Grain Company Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-825-4344 Lloydminster, SK bob@greatwesterngrain.com

Greenshields Seeds Ltd. ◆ ◆ 306-524-2155 Semans, SK ggreenshields@sasktel.net

Hillsburgh Stock Farm (1997) Ltd. ◆ 306-867-2106 Outlook, SK hillsburgh@sasktel.net

Horizon Agro Inc. ◆ ◆ 204-746-2026 Morris, MB www.horizonagro.com

Horizon Seed Processors ◆ ◆ 306-253-4233 Aberdeen, SK horizon.seed@sasktel.net

Hytek Ltd ◆ 204-424-6009 LaBroquerie, MB www.hytekmb.com

IT& T Trading Inc. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 604-681-8675 Vancouver, BC itakagi@itttrading.com

J K Milling Canada Ltd ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-592-2002 Buchanan, SK jkm@jkmilling.ca

J K Milling Canada Ltd ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 604-696-9955 Vancouver, BC www.jki.com.au

James Richardson International Ltd. ◆ ◆ 204-934-5621 Winnipeg, MB www.jri.ca

Kalshea Trading International Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 204-737-2400 Altona, MB kalshea_trading@hotmail.com

Keg Agro Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-867-8667 Outlook, SK sulven@kegagro.ca

Keyser Farms Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-723-4949 Cupar, SK keyserfarms@sasktel.net

L. A. Grain Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 403-327-9787 Lethbridge, AB jasongetty@lagrain.ca

Lackawanna Products Corp. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-862-2723 Nipawin, SK rslackawanna@sasktel.net

Lakeside Processors Ltd. ◆ 306-554-3264 Wynyard, SK lakesideprocessors@bogend.ca

Lakeside Pulse & Special Crops Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ 204-255-5550 Winnipeg, MB www.lakesidespecialcrops.com

Landmark Feeds Inc. ◆ ◆ 204-928-7300 Winnipeg, MB www.landmarkfeeds.com

Linear Grain Inc. ◆ ◆ 204-745-6747 Carman, MB www.lineargrain.com

Louis Dreyfus Canada Ltd. ◆ 403-205-3322 Calgary, AB www.louisdreyfus.ca

MAS International Foods Ltd. ◆ ◆ 416-244-2605 Mississauga, ON amir@masfoods.com

Mainline Terminal Ltd. ◆ 306-435-4905 Moosomin, SK derek.sebastian@cargill.com

Maviga N A Inc. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-721-8900 Regina, SK www.maviga.com

Mid-Sask Terminal Ltd. ◆ 306-946-2225 Watrous, SK banderson@midsaskterminal.com

Naber Specialty Grains Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-752-4115 Melfort, SK nsgl@sasktel.net

North East Terminal Ltd. ◆ 306-338-2999 Wadena, SK www.northeastterminal.com

North West Terminal Ltd. ◆ ◆ 306-228-3735 Unity, SK www.northwestterminal.com

Northern Feeds inc. ◆ 306-883-5671 Spiritwood, SK northernfeeds@sasktel.net

Nuvision Commodities Inc. ◆ ◆ ◆ 204-758-3401 St. Jean-Baptiste, MB nuvision@mts.net

Oleet Processing Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-543-4777 Regina, SK markfuessel@otfarms.ca

Parent Seed Farm Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 204-737-2625 St Joseph, MB www.parentseed.com

Parkland Pulse Grain Co. Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-445-4199 North Battleford, SK kirby.b@parklandpulse.com

Parrish & Heimbecker Ltd. (Lethbridge) ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 403-320-9440 Lethbridge, AB www.parheim.mb.ca

Parrish & Heimbecker Ltd. (Winnipeg) ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 204-956-2030 Winnipeg, MB www.parheim.mb.ca

Paterson Grain, a division of Paterson Global Foods Inc. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 204-956-2090 Winnipeg, MB www.pattersonglobalfoods.com

Pioneer Grain Co. Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ 204-934-5961 Winnipeg, MB www.jri.ca
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Registered Pulse Buyers

Poplar Valley Organic Farm Inc. ◆ ◆ 306-767-2640 Zenon Park, SK poplarvalley@sasktel.net

Prairie Pulse Inc. ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-249-9236 Vanscoy, SK info@prairiepulse.com

Prairieland Grain Co. Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 204-483-3636 Hartney, MB www.prairielandgrain.com

Prairie West Terminal Ltd. ◆ 306-932-4446 Plenty kdormer@p-w-t.ca

Prime Seeds International Inc. ◆ ◆ ◆ 604-990-2500 Vancouver, BC simon@primeproseeds.com

Profood Canada Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 403-270-3700 Calgary, AB profood@shaw.ca

PSC Elstow Research Farm ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-667-7446 Saskatoon, SK ken.engele@usask.ca

Pulse Depot Rosetown Inc. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-882-4440 Rosetown, SK info@pulsedepot.com

Quantum Processing Ltd. ◆ 306-759-2040 Central Butte, SK quantum.processing@sasktel.net

Regina Seed Processors Ltd. ◆ 306-586-8955 Richardson, SK

Roy Legumex Inc. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 204-758-3597 St. Jean-Baptiste, MB www.legumex.com

R W Organic Ltd. ◆ 306-354-2660 Mossbank, SK rworganic@sasktel.net

R Young Seeds Inc. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-355-2221 Mortlach, SK ryoungseeds.colin@sasktel.net

S. S. Johnson Seeds Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ 800-363-9442 Arborg, MB www.johnsonseeds.com

Sask Wheat Pool — Seed Cleaning Plant ◆ 306-692-0671 Moose Jaw, SK merchandising@swp.com

Sask Wheat Pool — Special Crops ◆ ◆ 306-569-4411 Regina, SK www.swp.com

Saskcan Pulse Trading Inc. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-525-4490 Regina, SK www.saskcan.com

Sedley Seeds ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-885-4444 Sedley, SK www.sedleyseeds.com

Shafer Commodities Inc. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 403-328-5066 Lethbridge, AB hgoodby@shafercom.com

Shamrock Seeds Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-249-4151 Saskatoon, SK shamrockseeds@sasktel.net

Simpson Seeds Inc. ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-693-2132 Moose Jaw, SK www.simpsonseeds.com

Smith Seeds ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-263-4944 Limerick, SK ron@smithseeds.ca

South West Terminal Ltd. ◆ ◆ 306-672-4112 Gull Lake, SK www.swt.sk.ca

Southland Pulse Inc. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306 634-8008 Estevan, SK shawnm@southlandpulse.net

Sunrise Foods International Inc. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-931-4576 Saskatoon, SK sunrise.g.neufeld@sasktel.net

Superior Grains Inc. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 701-965-6241 Crosby, ND les@superiorgrains.com

SW Seed Canada Ltd. ◆ ◆ 306-862-4678 Nipawin, SK garth.lyons@swseeds.com

T.W. Commodities/Dunnington Holdings Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-773-9748 Swift Current, SK www.twcommodities.com

Terminal 22 (1998) Inc. ◆ 306-334-2222 Balcarres, SK www.t22.ca

Terramax Holding Corp. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-699-7368 Qu’Appelle, SK www.terramax.sk.ca

The Rice Company ◆ 916-784-7745 Roseville, CA www.riceco.com

Tradewind Commodities Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-436-4450 Milestone, SK paul.tradewind@sasktel.net

Van Burck Seeds Ltd. ◆ ◆ 306-863-4377 Star City, SK vanburckseeds@vectorbroadband.com

Veikle Grain Ltd. ◆ ◆ 306-398-4714 Cut Knife, SK veikle.seeds@sasktel.net

Vigro Seed & Supply (A division of Weyburn Inland Terminal) ◆ ◆ 306-885-2144 Sedley, SK vigro@wit.ca

Walker Seeds Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-873-3777 Tisdale, SK www.walkerseeds.ca

Western Commodities Trading Inc. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-872-2280 Spalding, SK blair.wct@sasktel.net

Western Grain Trade Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-657-3455 Saskatoon, SK vicki@westerngrain.com

Weyburn Inland Terminal Ltd. ◆ 306-842-7436 Weyburn, SK www.wit.ca

Whitewater Coulee Cleaners Ltd. ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ ◆ 306-293-2101 Bracken, SK
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Single Air Bubble Jets
already provide the 
best coverage available
because of their uniform
droplet size (200-550
micron). Now using the
Twin Air Bubble Jet you
get over twice as many
droplets per square
inch(compared to a 
single Bubble Jet) with-
out all the drift and
wasted chemical that
conventional nozzles
produce. Operates at
normal pressure 30-45 psi (overall range of 20-90 psi)

Ideal for: - Applying fungicides,insecticides and herbicides.
- Pulse crops, potatoes or any crop for that matter.

This season let the Air Bubble Jets and Twin Air Bubble Jets
help make your operation even more efficient by putting your
chemical $$$ where it belongs – “On The Plant”.

Ag Canada tested

Price: Air Bubble Jets $11.25 ea       Twin Cap $8.95 ea

A B J AGRI PRODUCTS
www.abjagriproducts.com • Brandon, Manitoba
Ph.: (204) 724-4519 • Fax: (204) 727-8694
Email: abjagri@westman.wave.ca

Twin Air Bubble Jet Saskatchewan Environmental
Farm Plan (EFP)

If you are an agriculture producer and are interested in:

• Identifying and reducing environmental risks on
your operation.

• Developing a more environmentally and 
economically sustainable operation.

• Participating in a voluntary, confidential, 
producer-driven program.

Then an EFP workshop may be for you!

For more information on workshops and the program 
please call the Provincial Council of ADD Boards at 

(306) 955-5477 or visit our website: www.saskpcab.com
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The quality of pulses harvested in
Western Canada is very high, and it is estimat-
ed that greater than 80% of pea production is
eligible for human consumption grades.
However, approximately half of these peas
enter domestic and export feed markets, pri-
marily for use in hog diets. Since so many top-
quality peas are available to the feed industry,
marketing lower quality pulses as feed
requires some knowledge of the marketplace.

Off-Grade Lentils and Chickpeas
Based on the Saskatchewan 2005 Special Crop
Quality Survey, an estimated 17% of 2004
lentils and 6% of 2005 lentils graded as “sam-
ple”, which would total nearly 250,000 MT of
potential feed. In addition, the estimated 40%
“sample” chickpeas produced in 2004 equal an
additional 25,000MT. If this material cannot be
blended in with higher grades of pulses, pro-
ducers will look to the feed industry as a mar-
keting option.

Commercial Feed Processors
Many livestock producers purchase processed
feeds containing pulses because the products
are consistent and easy-to-handle. Both Oleet
Processing, a division of O&T Farms near
Regina, and EXP Feeds Inc. of Shoal Lake, MB,
purchase quality feed pulses for the manufac-
ture of high-energy, extruded pulse-canola
feedstuffs for hogs, poultry, horses, dairy and
beef animals. Pulses containing higher levels
of dockage or lightweight seeds are purchased
for the production of screenings pellets by
commercial feed mills. These products are

well-received by beef producers and the new
West Central Pelleting Plant, producing
screenings pellets at both Wilkie and Wolseley,
now requires approximately 3500 tonnes of
pulse screenings per month to meet demand!

Feed Lentils and Chickpeas for Hogs
Both lentils and chickpeas contain high levels
of energy and amino acids, and feed compa-
nies in Alberta report using lentils interchange-
ably for peas in hog diets. The energy content
of lentils (Jaikaran et al 2001) and Kabuli chick-
peas is slightly greater than that of peas; how-
ever, the higher fibre levels in Desi chickpeas
reduces the energy content by approximately
10% (Thacker et al 2002). Pulse producers
have indicated that it is difficult to harvest
lentils with dockage levels below 2%; there-
fore, feed companies may accept higher dock-
age levels because it is offset by the higher

With rising
transportation
rates, domestic
feed markets are
an important
marketing
option for 
low-value pulses.

by Michelle Fleury

in briefMarketing 
Low-Value Pulses
for Livestock

feed market

On-farm use of pulses
keeps transportation
costs down.
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energy content of lentils and Kabuli chickpeas. Feed manu-
facturers currently purchasing feed peas and lentils are list-
ed on the SPG website (www.saskpulse.com).

The Saskatchewan Pulse Growers have responded to the
relatively low price offered for feed lentils by funding research
to support their nutritional value in swine diets. Data from the
Prairie Swine Centre study will be available this spring, and
will confirm the energy value and establish amino acid
digestibilities for lentils in growing and finishing hog diets.

Feed Pulses for Poultry
Research is underway at the University of Saskatchewan to
examine the energy content of peas for poultry. European
research suggests that pelleting peas increases their energy
content for poultry by approximately 10%. The energy content
of poultry diets in western Canada has typically been deter-
mined using mash diets, so it is suspected that pea/poultry
studies performed to date may have underestimated the ener-
gy value of peas by this substantial amount. With production
of peas increasing in the United States, this research will
ensure that pulse products can compete for the significant,
quality-conscious North American poultry feed market.

Pulse Grains for Cattle
On-farm use, or sale to local cattle and sheep producers,
can keep transportation costs down – a consideration
important for low-value commodities. Beef cows wintered
on straw or slough hay, and calves finished on barley silage-
based diets, may require supplemental protein that can be
economically supplied by feed pulses. Feeding pulses in the
concentrate portion of bred cow rations, substituting a
pulse/mineral supplement in place of urea-based feedlot
supplements, and using whole pulses as creep feeds are
examples of how pulses can be included in cattle diets.

Quality Counts
One of the best ways to avoid marketing low-value pulses is
to ensure that they are eligible for markets that require high
quality ingredients. Although it is impossible to control the
weather, other production and harvest conditions can be
monitored. On-farm feed manufacturers note that their feed
mill equipment wears more quickly when processing peas
and are therefore careful to not buy pulses containing
stones or dirt. Dockage is an important criterion to monitor
as it increases transportation costs and can even prevent
the sale of pulses into hog and poultry markets. However,
most producers would meet the dockage criteria easily, as
demonstrated by the Canadian Grain Commission 2005
Harvest Survey of over 200 pea samples. Approximately 90%
of these samples contained less than 2% dockage, and 80%
contained less than 1% dockage! Both these high quality
pulses, and those that result from less-than-ideal growing
and harvest conditions, have market opportunities in a feed
industry that is driven by quality and value.

Michelle Fleury is an Animal Nutrition Consultant and is responsible for
SPG’s domestic feed market development activities. For more information
contact Michelle at mfleury@sasktel.net.

feed market

• Yellow and Green Peas 
• Lentils (all types) 
• Chickpeas (all types) 
• Beans (all types) 
• Canaryseed 

Buyers and Processors of:

CGC Bonded

Please call or visit our Web site for 
pricing and delivery information

www.legumex.com
250 Caron Street (Box 40), St. Jean, MB  R0G 2B0

1-800-785-7857 (toll free)

GOT A PULSE?
Since 1948 
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We know about the rollercoaster
ride we experienced with chickpea production
in western Canada. The crop grew rapidly in
the late 1990’s to over 1.2 million acres in
response to strong market demand especially
for the large kabuli class. Just as quickly,
acres fell because of falling prices and the
high production risks due to ascochyta blight
and the crop’s long growing season require-
ment. During chickpea’s short crop history in
western Canada there have been significant
improvements made in the areas of crop man-
agement and production technology. Of
course, growers also gained valuable experi-
ence through the school of hard knocks.

Saskatchewan Agriculture and Food (SAF)
and the Saskatchewan Pulse Growers (SPG)
continue to invest in chickpea research. Short-
term projects focussed on crop protection
product registrations, determining best prac-
tises for fungicide use, and management
options to reduce maturity periods. Mid-term
projects have looked at plant breeding for 
earlier maturity and ascochyta resistance,
plant physiology to compare leaf structures
and investigate water use efficiency, and plant
pathology work to uncover disease variation.
Long-term projects look into potential sources
of ascochyta resistance by crossing wild 

annual or wild perennial chickpea species
with our domestic types, and developing dou-
bled-haploid technology to reduce the waiting
period for the introduction of lines with
improved traits.

Our goal by 2010 is to have five hundred
thousand acres of profitable and sustained
production of chickpea in western Canada
where the risk of production is more than

Improvements
through breed-
ing will make
chickpea 
production more
attractive in
Western Canada.

by Ray McVicar

in briefTargeting
Sustainable
Chickpea
Production

sustainable production

Chickpea pods.
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compensated for by the market. Assuming prices, yields and
chickpea class mix similar to those occurring at the time of
writing this article, achieving this goal would provide annual
farm-gate value of about $150 million. Chickpea has shown
to be an excellent crop for generating spin-off wealth in the
rural economy, often doubling the benefit to GDP. The chal-
lenge is to do this with risk levels that are comparable to
our other pulse crops.

The two most important constraints to the production
of chickpea in western Canada are the crop’s long growing
season requirement and ascochyta blight. Significant
research is underway in other areas of chickpea develop-
ment, but this article focuses on these main constraints.

So what’s been happening to reduce the risk of the long
growing season requirement?
The Crop Development Centre (CDC) University of
Saskatchewan is developing preliminary and advanced
breeding lines that are earlier maturing than the currently
grown varieties such as Myles and B90 (Amit). CDC is also
investigating key genetic traits on maturity in chickpea.
Preliminary results show that combining the double pod-
ding and early flowering traits shows the best promise for
early crop maturity.

Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (AAFC), Swift Current
has compared the effect of stubble type on chickpea maturi-

ty in 2004 and 2005. Results show that chickpea matures
more rapidly on barley stubble, followed by wheat stubble,
followed by fallow.

The effect of nitrogen fertilizer and inoculant interac-
tions on chickpea maturity is also being studied. Four site
years in 2004 and 2005 have indicated some very interesting
patterns. Plots with no inoculant and zero starter nitrogen
were very late and had a high per cent green seed. Results
showed that using the correct inoculant versus no inoculant
sped maturity of the crop. In three of the four sites, banding
nitrogen fertilizer versus using the correct inoculant and no
nitrogen sped the maturity of chickpea. Plants receiving
only nitrogen fertilizer grew vigorously early on and deplet-
ed nutrients to the point of deficiency sooner in the season.
Soil residual nitrogen levels in the four site years were low,
at about 20 kg/ha (18lb/ac) and there was no chickpea histo-
ry on the plot area.

A separate project carried out at AAFC Swift Current
looked at overcoming late chickpea maturity by varying har-
vest techniques. The results indicated that swathing
increased green seed, and that leaving the crop in the field
until fully mature or a killing frost did not result in yield
loss. The latest harvest date showed some improvement in
seed coat colour. More research is needed to define crop
stages and treatments that could be used to hasten chick-
pea maturity.

What about reducing the risk due to ascochyta blight?
CDC and AAFC Saskatoon have been investigating pathogen-
ic variation in the disease. The sexual stage of chickpea
ascochyta blight exists in western Canada, which increases
the risk of the pathogen adapting. Work has also continued
on timing and sequencing of foliar fungicide applications to
protect chickpea crops. New foliar fungicides have been reg-
istered to help growers manage the disease.

CDC is “pyramiding” resistance from international
sources to increase the overall level of resistance. New vari-
eties with “fair” resistance to ascochyta blight will reduce
the disease risk in chickpea production. Current CDC
advanced breeding lines, in both desi and kabuli classes
have ascochyta blight resistance levels similar to CDC
Frontier.

The research team at CDC is also investigating wild
annual and wild perennial chickpeas for improved disease
traits. A project with CDC and Australia is proceeding to
share the expertise and the cost of developing doubled 
haploid technology in chickpea. If successful, this technology
could reduce the time it takes to introduce a new cultivar by
about three years.

Quality is the key to profitable returns from chickpea, 
so we need to continue research focused on practices that
promote large seed, high quality, and early harvest.

Ray McVicar is the Provincial Special Crops Specialist with Saskatchewan
Agriculture and Food in Regina, SK. For more information, call the 
Ag Knowledge Centre (toll-free) at 1-866-457-2377.

sustainable production
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It takes leadership and vision
to create a program that sets the stage for a
“win-win” situation, but that’s how most folks
you talk to feel about the Saskatchewan Pulse
Growers Variety Release Program. “Yes, it is
good thing for all those involved,” says Barry
Reisner, a Select Seed Grower from Limerick.
But, he prefaces that comment with, “We have
to give credit to the Pulse Board of the time.
They had a vision and took some risks in
deciding to do something different. That’s not
always easy.”

To gain a clearer understanding of the his-
tory of the Variety Release Program (VRP) a
good place to start is with Garry Meier, who
refers to himself as “one of a long list of past
directors of the Saskatchewan Pulse Growers.”
He began growing pulse crops on his farm in
the Ridgedale area early in the 1980s, became
involved on the Pulse Board in the mid 1990s
and was chairman during the genesis of the
VRP. Meier indicates, “There was an aware-
ness of the issues surrounding the stability of
funding for pulse crop research at the Crop
Development Centre (CDC), and there were
issues around the quality of export seed. We
realized we needed a program that would
increase the supply of quality pulse seed, and
ultimately improve the quality of Canadian
pulses for export.” With that end in mind, the
work began.

Allison Krahn, the Seed Commercialization
Manager with the Pulse Growers provides excel-
lent representation for the Variety Release
Program. Well spoken and articulate she
explains the details, “In 1997 the Saskatchewan
Pulse Growers (SPG) entered into a unique

The Variety
Release Program
increases the
supply of quality
pulse seed and
ultimately
improves the
quality of
Canadian pulses
for export.

by Lee Pengilly

in briefSaskatchewan
Pulse Growers
Variety Release
Program

returns on research

George Dutton examines plot at Field Day.

More Info

For more information 
on the Variety Release
Program, contact 
Allison Krahn, Seed
Commercialization
Manager with the
Saskatchewan 
Pulse Growers at
306.668.0591 or email
akrahn@saskpulse.com
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agreement with the Crop Development Centre (CDC) Pulse
Breeding Program. In exchange for a financial commitment to
pulse breeding in Saskatchewan, SPG received the distribution
rights to all pulse varieties developed by the CDC. The Variety
Release Program (VRP) is founded on the premise that this
arrangement will encourage the growth of the pulse sector
through the rapid uptake and acceptance of new varieties
developed at the CDC.”

“Through the VRP, Breeder seed of the newest pulse 
varieties developed by the CDC is made available to eligible
Select status Seed Growers in Saskatchewan and Alberta with
no royalty requirement. As a result, the VRP provides pulse
producers in Saskatchewan and Alberta with a steady supply
of new, improved pulse crop varieties as quickly as possible.”

Held in January of every year in conjunction with Pulse
Days, representatives from the Crop Development Centre, the
Pulse Board and Select Seed Growers have the opportunity to
meet. The session provides a forum for dialogue on current
research, new directions for future research, and what pulse
varieties will soon be available. With the SPG acting as the
distribution channel, Select Seed Growers have until the 
middle of February
to fill out their appli-
cation forms and
order seed of CDC
pulse varieties for
the upcoming sea-
son. According to
Krahn, “The newest
varieties are most in
demand. In the event
the demand exceeds
supply then a ran-
dom draw deter-
mines the allocation
process.” Once received by the Select Seed Grower there is a
commitment to multiply the seed while guaranteeing both
purity and integrity from Breeder seed through to commer-
cially available seed.

Krahn indicates, “The Variety Release Program has
worked really well and SPG continues to receive interest 
from other commodity groups. It has been recognized as very
successful and fair.” Her opinion is echoed by Glenn Annand,
a Select Seed Grower and past chair of SPG, “The Pulse
Growers have set up a good model. Varietal research and 
subsequent seed release is an issue that affects us both in the
short and long term. The VRP has worked well to keep us in
the game.” Reisner agrees, “The VRP has been an excellent
method to guarantee rapid distribution of new varieties so
farmers can start reaping the benefits as soon as possible.”

And with that, Meier would reply, “Yes, that’s what we
wanted; funding stability for research and to get new varieties
into the market place as quickly as possible while providing a
high level of satisfaction to the parties.”

Now that’s a “win-win” situation.

N. Lee Pengilly is a writer, consultant and rancher from eastern
Saskatchewan. She can be reached at walksfar@sasktel.net
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$21 million over 15 years.
The Saskatchewan Pulse Growers and the
Crop Development Centre at the University 
of Saskatchewan have entered into a new 
long-term pulse breeding agreement worth 
$21 million over 15 years.

“In return for core funding of the pulse 
breeding program, the U of S has given 
SPG exclusive global distribution rights for
new varieties of peas, lentils, chickpeas, 
dry beans, and new pulse crops such as
fababeans and soybeans,” said CDC Director
Rick Holm.

Dedicated Chickpea Breeder
Dr. Bunyamin Ta’ran is assuming the responsi-
bility for the chickpea breeding program at
CDC. He has worked with the research team 
at CDC for the last six years and has been an
active participant in the program. He is very
familiar with the challenges that need to be
met in developing improved varieties for
Western Canada.

2005 Investment Tax Credit
Producers who contribute pulse check-off 
dollars to the Saskatchewan Pulse Growers
are eligible to earn an investment tax 
credit through the Scientific Research and
Experimental Development (SR&ED) program.
The tax credit is based on check-off funds
spent on research and development that
meets specific criteria as set out by Canada
Revenue Agency.

For the 2005 tax year, 34% of the Saskatchewan
pulse check-off qualifies for the SR&ED tax
credit.

Producers can calculate their total check-
off contribution by referring to their pulse
sales receipts, which show the check-off 
allocation.

To claim the tax credit on their tax returns,
producers must file a T2038 (IND) for farm
proprietorships or a T2SCH31 for farm 
corporations.

All check-off investment tax credit applied
against taxes payable, or refunded, must be
reported by the producer as income in the
subsequent year.

For more information on the process of 
claiming the tax credit, please consult 
your accountant or visit the Canada 
Revenue Agency website at 
www.cra-arc.gc.ca/taxcredit/sred/publications/
checkoff-e.html.

Philom Bios Increases 
its Pledge to the Pulse Field Lab 
To help celebrate their 25th anniversary,
Philom Bios will donate $1/bag of TagTeam
purchased before June 30, 2006 towards the
Pulse Field Lab. See the Philom Bios website
at www.philombios.com for details on their
25th anniversary contest.

On Point

For more information about SPG activities, please call: (306) 668-5556 

e-mail: pulse@saskpulse.com, or visit our Web site: www.saskpulse.com.

News from 
and about
Saskatchewan
Pulse Growers
(SPG).

in brief

With financial support from BASF, these new varieties will then have
the CLEARFIELD trait backcrossed into them, resulting in a CLEARFIELD
version of the new variety being released about three to four years
later, depending on the type of lentil.

Are there any market concerns about CLEARFIELD lentils?
We are not aware of any. Mercantile Consulting Ventures surveyed our
key lentil importers and explained that CLEARFIELD lentils were non-
GMO. Based on these results we are confident that our markets will
accept CLEARFIELD lentils, knowing that they are non-GMO. We will
continue to communicate with importers during the introduction of
CLEARFIELD lentils.

When will commercial seed be available?
Due to the large quantities CDC Impact CL and CDC Imperial CL being
released this year, we expect small amounts of commercial seed to be
available in 2007 and moderate amounts of commercial seed to be
available in 2008. Generally growers should expect reasonable quanti-
ties of commercial seed available three years after the release of a new
lentil variety. This means that commercial quantities of CLEARFIELD
green lentils should be available by 2010.

…continued from page 54
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After many years of hard work
and much anticipation, the announcement at
Pulse Days 2006 finally came. CLEARFIELD
lentils are here! This unique partnership
between a grower organization, a multi-nation-
al company and a university is unlike no
other. An agreement was possible because
each organization was willing to recognize and
respect each other’s needs.

SPG represented growers’ needs. We
wanted better broadleaf weed control in
lentils, non-GMO lentils and seed made widely
available through our variety release program
at a reasonable price with no royalty require-
ments.

BASF wanted to be competitive in the
weed control market for lentils with a broad-
spectrum weed control option and have the
CLEARFIELD lentil program operate in a fash-
ion as to ensure the long-term sustainability of
this technology for growers.

The Crop Development Centre at the
University of Saskatchewan wanted continued
scientific freedom to operate, involvement in
the commercialization of CLEARFIELD lentils,
and long term stable funding for their pulse
breeding program.

This spring we are making 27,000 kg of
CDC Impact CL (Blaze type red lentil) and
34,000 kg of CDC Imperial CL (Robin type red
lentil) available to select status seed growers.
Over the next three years we will release
CLEARFIELD lentils in the green lentil market
classes.

Do I need to sign an agreement to grow
CLEARFIELD lentils?
Yes. CLEARFIELD lentils are non-GMO, howev-
er because they are herbicide tolerant, the
Canadian Food Inspection Agency requires
BASF to communicate best management prac-

tices to all CLEARFIELD lentil growers. BASF
will do this by having all growers sign a stew-
ardship agreement each year known as the
CLEARFIELD Commitment. There is no royalty
and no technology use fee. However, you will
be required to pay to have the seed tested
each year as a quality assurance measure to
ensure that the seed you plan to use has ade-
quate herbicide tolerance to Odyssey herbi-
cide. This test is called the CLEARFIELD
Confirm Test.

Do I have to spray Odyssey on my
CLEARFIELD lentils?
If you plan to use the CLEARFIELD lentils for
seed production then you must spray
Odyssey according to the CLEARFIELD
Commitment. If the CLEARFIELD lentils are for
commercial purposes other than seed then
you are not required to use Odyssey. However,
you cannot use any other “imi” type herbicide
other than Odyssey. Odyssey is the only “imi”
registered on CLEARFIELD lentils at this time.

Can I save my own seed for planting?
Yes. There are no restrictions for farm saved
seed. You must still sign a BASF CLEARFIELD
Commitment each year and have a
CLEARFIELD Confirm Test done on the seed
each year.

Can I buy and sell common seed?
Yes. However, the seller of common
CLEARFIELD lentil seed must have the buyer
sign a BASF CLEARFIELD Commitment prior to
the sale.

Will all new lentil varieties be CLEARFIELD?
No. The CDC and SPG will continue to develop
and release non-CLEARFIELD lentil varieties.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Garth Patterson

RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT

MANAGER

Dr. Kofi Agblor

SEED COMMERCIALIZATION

MANAGER

Allison Krahn

COMMUNICATIONS 

Managed by Food Focus

OFFICE ADMINISTRATOR

Tasha Nett

ACCOUNTING CLERK

Esther Zvacek

CONTROLLER

Helen Baumgartner

RECORDS ADMINISTRATOR

Shelly Weber

CONTACT US

104–411 Downey Road

Saskatoon, SK  S7N 4L8

tel. (306) 668-5556

fax (306) 668-5557

pulse@saskpulse.com

www.saskpulse.com

the team

Closing Thoughts

Garth Patterson
Executive Director

CLEARFIELD Lentils 
Are Here!

…continues on page 53



When it’s time to control grassy weeds in pulse, flax, canola and other broadleaf crops, don’t 

complicate things. Use the herbicide that works the first time, every time—genuine SELECT
®

Herbicide. To learn more, see your retailer or visit www.arystalifescience.ca/select.

Life is complicated.
Your herbicide shouldn’t be.

Always read and follow label directions. SELECT is a registered trademark of Arysta LifeScience Corporation. The SELECT logo and the 
Arysta LifeScience logo are trademarks of Arysta LifeScience Corporation. ©2006 Arysta LifeScience Corporation. SEL-016
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